
 

Full Commission Meeting 
February  4th-5thth, 2025 

Facilitated by the Council of State Governments 



 

Table of Contents 
Agenda……………………………………………….………………………2 

Inaugural Meeting Minutes…………………………………………….3 

Legislative Update………………………………………………….…..10 

Robert’s Rules of Order…………………………….…………….……12 

Draft Bylaws………………………………………………………………14 

Elections Information……………………………………………….…22 

Ex-Officio Organizations Information……..………………………27 

Draft Rule on Rulemaking…………………………………..……..…29 

Draft Rule on Qualifying National Exam……………….…………33 

State Exam Requirements……………………………………………35 

CompactConnect Summary…………….………………………..…38 

Committee Information………………………….……………………40 

Social Work Model Legislation…………….……………………..…42 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 
2025 Social Work Compact Commission Meeting – Agenda  

Hosted by The Council of State Governments (CSG) 
 

Date: Tuesday, February 4th and Wednesday, February 5th, 2025 
Location: CSG Office (1776 Ave of the States, Lexington, KY 40511) 
 
Day One 
10:00 AM Welcome, Call to Order, Roll Call 

Review and Adopt Agenda 
Review and Adopt Draft Minutes from September Meeting 
Review Social Work Compact Legislation 
Delegate Governance Training 
Review and Adopt Bylaws 
 Discuss and Approve Ex Officio Organizations to Executive Committee 

 
12:00 PM Lunch 

 
Discuss Nominees and Elect Executive Committee 
Review and Adopt Rule on Rulemaking 
Discuss Rule on Qualifying National Exam 
Public Comment 

 
4:00 PM  Adjourn 
 
Day Two 
9:00 AM Continue Discussion/Adopt Rule on Qualifying National Exam 

Update on Compact Connect 
Form Rules Committee and Finance Committee 

 
12:00 PM Adjourn 
 
 
 



 

   
 

 
 
 

Social Work Licensure Compact Commission 
Inaugural Meeting Agenda 

September 17th, 2024: 10am ET – 3pm ET 
Zoom: https://csg-org.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZYvdeqtrzkrHt1_qNWwyfVCqaRb0BVxxdAn 

 
 

I. Attendees 
a. Delegates Present: 

i. Alabama- Rachel Dickinson 
ii. Arizona-Tobi Zavala 

iii. Colorado-Reina Sbarbaro-Gordon 
iv. Connecticut-Chris Andresen 
v. Georgia- Deborah Sills 
vi. Iowa-Tony Alden 

vii. Kansas-David Fye 
viii. Louisiana-Hyacinth Mckee 

ix. Kentucky-Hank Cecil 
x. Maine-Angela  Fileccia 
xi. Minnesota-Youa Yang 

xii. Missouri-Justin Bennett 
xiii. New Hampshire-Bethany Cottrell 
xiv. Nebraska-Sean Loving 
xv. Ohio-Kevin Fowler 

xvi. Rhode Island- Laura Mello 
xvii. South Dakota- Kelli Willis 

xviii. Tennessee-Tara Watson 
xix. Utah- Jana Johansen 
xx. Vermont-Noura Eltabbakh 

xxi. Virginia-Jaime Hoyle 
xxii. Washington-Lana Crawford 

b. Interim Chair Present: 
i. Laura Groshong, CSWA 

c. Interim Legal Counsel: 
i. Samantha Nance, EMWN 

d. Interim Staff Present: 
i. Matt Shafer, CSG 
ii. Dan Logsdon, CSG 

iii. Kaitlyn Bison, CSG 

https://csg-org.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZYvdeqtrzkrHt1_qNWwyfVCqaRb0BVxxdAn


 

   
 

 
II. Welcome and Introductions of Interim Staff  

a. Interim Staff: M. Shafer outlined housekeeping and introduced interim staff, 
including Dan Logsdon, Kaitlyn Bison, and Samantha Nance. 

b. CSG’s Role: M. Shafer detailed CSG’s involvement and role with DDH compact. 
III. Call to Order 

a. L. Groshong calls on delegates by state alphabetical order to introduce 
themselves and elaborate on their role on the board. 

b. Agenda Review: M. Shafer reviewed and asked for questions about the agenda 
(none received). 
   

IV. Legislative Update/Legal Opinion on Legislative Deviations 
a. K. Bison describes the legislative review process and affirms that no material 

deviations were enacted. 
b. K. Bison provided an update on state enactments and pending bills. No material 

deviations reported. 
c. S. Nance explains non-material changes and requests delegates to flag any 

potential amendments to compact legislation in their states.  
d. S. Nance invites questions from delegates. 

i. H. Cecil- KY asks if CSG will continue to monitor and M. Shafer explains 
the timeline of CSG’s role with the commission. 

        
V. Discussion of Data System 

a. L. Groshong calls on Isabel Eliassen to present update on Compact Connect 
b. I. Eliassen invites questions. 

i. A. Fileccia-ME asks how the data system will be chosen. 
ii. J. Bennet-MO asks if there is an anticipated launch date. 

iii. I. Eliassen addresses all of the questions stating that the executive 
committee will choose the vendor, and there is not an anticipated launch 
date as of yet. 

VI. Review Commission Governance Structure 
a. L. Groshong hands over to S. Nance to review the commission governance 

structure.  
b. S. Nance provides an overview of the governance structure, including the 

delegates' responsibilities.  
c. S. Nance invites questions (none received). 

 
VII. Discussion of Compact Commission By-Laws 

a. S. Nance reviewed the draft by-laws and governance structure and expected 
roles.  

b. S. Nance continues with an overview of the by-laws and rulemaking within the 
confines of the compact language. 

c. S. Nance discusses item in blue of optional provision of Past Chair that would be 
filled at officer level – merely option and provides for governance continuity. 



 

   
 

d. S. Nance points to meeting requirements that mirror the compact language. 
e. S. Nance overviews public notice of meetings, and the ability of the commission 

to establish appropriate committees (ex. Finance committees, etc.) 
f. S. Nance asks for any delegate questions (none received). 

   
VIII. Discussion of Rule on Rulemaking 

a. S. Nance discussed rulemaking processes and common misconceptions.  
b. S. Nance recommend this rule to be adopted quickly to allow for future rules to 

be made. 
c. S. Nance asks for questions from delegates. 
d. T. Watson -TN asks what the threshold will be for public comments. 
e. S. Nance gives examples of other commission thresholds, but it will be up to the 

commission to decide.  
f. L. Mello-RI comments about how a number threshold may not be appropriate as 

very few comments are usually received. 
g. S. Nance mentions that that is useful and could set the threshold very low to 

adjust.                   
 

IX. Discussion of Leadership Nominations 
a. L. Groshing calls on M. Shafer to discuss available leadership roles and future 

procedures for voting and nomination. 
b. M. Shafer explains further leadership positions for executive committees. 
c. M. Shafer asks for questions from delegates. 

i. A. Muhammad- OH, asks if alternates can be on committees. 
ii. S. Nance mentions that elections are for individuals, may need to flip 

delegate and alternate for operations purposes. 
iii. H. Cecil-KY asks if that can be included in the by-laws. 
iv. S. Nance mentions that it could be clarified further in the bylaws and 

state outright. 
X. Lunch 

 
XI. Discussion of Commission Finances and Staff Hiring 

 
a. L. Groshing calls on M Shafer to discuss commission finances. 
b. M. Shafer emphasized the commission's unique opportunity to utilize existing 

data systems and discussed funding, staffing, and secretariat roles. 
c. CSG is contracted with ASWB until the end of 2025, with staffing decisions to be 

made later. 
d. Jennifer Henkel is called on to provide information on ASWB’s HRSA grant, which 

provides $150,000 annually until 2029 for commission development and 
support. 

e. L. Mello-RI inquired about grant resources for states implementing the compact, 
and J. Henkel confirmed that similar support could be offered. 

 



 

   
 

XII. Discussion of Future Rules for Consideration 
a. L. Groshong calls on M. Shafer to discuss potential rule introductions. 
b. M. Shafer proposed future rules regarding definitions and administrative issues. 
c. The qualifying national exam definition will be broad, allowing the commission to 

specify the ASWB exam. 
d. S. Nance emphasized that this flexibility is common across professions and 

welcomes questions from delegates. 
i. L. Mello-RI asked if RI licensees could take the compact exam if the exam 

is suspended. 
ii. J. Bennett-MO inquired about changes to state language if alternative 

pathways are identified. 
1. S. Nance indicated that changes could be necessary depending on 

the commission’s decisions. 
iii. L. Mello-RI questioned whether "substantial equivalency" supports 

alternative pathways. 
1. S. Nance agreed that it does allow for such pathways. 

iv. R. Dickinson-AL asked if a state could deny applicants wanting to take the 
exam first. 

1. M. Shafer clarified that adopting substantial equivalency would 
not give grounds for denial. 

e. M. Shafer mentions the aim to establish the ASWB exam as the national 
qualifying exam, with future discussions on alternative pathways. 

f. M. Shafer will introduce potential rules for adoption at the next meeting, 
focusing on the qualifying exam, interstate compact authority, and 
administrative issues. 

g. S. Nance explained the broad language in the rules for flexibility. 
h. L. Mello- RI expressed concern that the exam requirement may exclude licensees 

from compact privileges. 
i. C. Andresen-CT raised concerns about disparities in ASWB exam pass rates. 
j. R. Dickinson-AL stated that they would not accept licensees without exam 

completion, even outside the compact. 
k. L. Mello-RI highlighted bias against certain demographics in the exam results. 
l. M. Shafer discussed the need for consistent language regarding supervised 

practice equivalency. 
m. C. Andresen-CT mentioned issues faced in professional alliance or alternative 

disciplinary programs. 
i. S. Nance confirmed that states are not prohibited from using such 

programs. 
n. J. Bennett-MO requested information on fee structures for compact licenses to 

ensure accessibility. 
i. M. Shafer explained that fees are set by the state, with an example being 

a nominal fee of $45 for the PT compact. 
 

XIII. Ex Officio Organization Selection 



 

   
 

a. Summary:  
i. Various organizations were proposed for selection, and a motion was 

made to establish a rotating seat among the ex-officio members. After 
some discussion and clarifications, the motion to create a rotational seat 
passed with majority support. 

ii. Concerns were raised about including organizations not present for 
discussion, but the decision was made to send invitations to gauge 
interest in filling the rotating seat.  

b. L. Groshong calls on M. Shafer to discuss the memo and compact language and 
calls on Samantha to explain the role of ex-officio members. 

i. Up to four national social work associations will be selected. 
c. Establishing a rotating seat: 

i. J. Bennett-MO asked if the fourth ex-officio seat could be a rotating 
member, which S. Nance said is open for discussion. 

ii. Hank Cecil suggested considering various organizations: 
1. Council on Social Work Education 
2. National Association of Black Social Workers 
3. Social Welfare Action Alliance 
4. Case Management Society of America 

iii. A. Fileccia-ME supported the inclusion of the Council on Social Work 
Education. 

d. M. Shafer called on representatives from four national organizations to 
introduce themselves and clarified that the organizations must be nationally 
recognized. 

e. J. Bennett called for a motion to establish a rotating seat, seconded by Deborah 
Sills. 

i. Tony Alden sought clarification on which organization was being 
discussed. 

ii. Hank Cecil proposed splitting the motion to consider NABSW separately 
and make it a rotating seat, which J. Bennett seconded. 

iii. H. McKee raised a question about how the rotation would be decided. 
f. Tony Alden moved to approve a rotating seat for niche organizations to be 

decided later, and the motion passed with 19 yes votes, 1 no vote and 1 
abstaining. 

g. The amended motion included a rotational vote for the list including CASW. 
i. T. Zavala – AZ expressed concern about including organizations not 

previously contacted. 
h. A motion to designate one seat as rotational was made. 

i. J. Johansen - UT inquired about the rotation process, questioning who 
would determine it. 

ii. S. Nance indicated they are working on a framework. 
iii. J. Bennett - MO confirmed with S. Nance that ex-officio members would 

participate in larger commission and executive meetings. 
iv. D. Sills - GA questioned the selection process for organizations. 



 

   
 

v. H. McKee - LA mentioned sending formal invitations to other 
organizations. 

i. A voice vote passed the motion to establish a rotating chair among the four 
seats. 

i. J. Bennett - MO suggested reaching out to other organizations of interest. 
ii. S. Nance clarified the need for a formal invitation outlining 

responsibilities for the rotating seat, which was seconded by H. Cecil and 
Kelli S. 

iii. H. McKee-LA proposed using a list of organizations from the ASWB 
coalition as a starting point. 

j. A voice vote to send invitations passed. 
i. H. Cecil - KY identified ASWB, NASW, and CSWA as three spots for 

representation. 
ii. D. Sills - GA mentioned viewing CSWE as more of an accrediting body, 

while B. Cottrell suggested tabling the motion until invitations were sent. 
k. J. Johansen-UT seconded the motion to table. 

i. T. Alden - IA raised concerns about notifying organizations not present at 
the meeting. 

ii. T. Zavala - AZ noted that only the four invited organizations were 
involved in discussions. 

iii. R. Dickinson - AL supported starting with the initial four organizations. 
iv. J. Bennett - MO emphasized that these organizations represent the 

profession and its clients. 
l. The motion to table the decision on the three organizations as ex-officio seats 

passed with 20 yes votes, 1 no vote, and 1 abstaining. 
m. S. Nance indicated that the executive committee would not be formed yet. 
n. There will be one rotating seat, and CSG will reach out to gauge interest in filling 

that position. 
o. L. Groshong asked if ex-officio members could join committees. 

i. S. Nance stated that committees are formed by the commission, and it 
depends on specific needs and mandates, as there might arise a need for 
a committee with ex-offcio members. 

p. T. Alden – IA highlighted the need for in-person engagement in discussions for 
the next meeting. 

 
XIV. Questions from Delegates/Public Comment from Non-Delegate Attendees 

a. Laura asked for questions from delegates (none received). 
b. She invited members of the public to raise their hands or submit 

questions/comments in the chat, explaining the expected nature of public 
comments. 

i. Dana Paglia from Michigan discussed pursuing exam alternatives and 
emphasized that NASW Michigan is fully engaged. She encouraged the 
commission to consider the importance of these initiatives. 



 

   
 

ii. Dr. Jasmine Smith from NASW California noted the absence of their 
organization in the licensure process. She supported including additional 
organizations in future discussions and stressed the need for equitable 
policies regarding the ASWB exam and alternative processes. 

iii. Pilar Binilla, a public social worker, expressed concern about the legal 
implications of ASWB's significant role in funding and committee 
membership, highlighting potential conflicts of interest and the 
importance of inclusivity. 

iv. Henry O'Keefe, a contract lobbyist and private attorney in Oregon 
representing NASW, shared his insights on proposed changes to the 
licensing board before they are enacted in Oregon, and requested 
assistance with meetings regarding deviations from compact language. 
  

XV. Review Transition Plan and Next Steps 
a. L. Groshong calls on K. Bison to present overview of transition plan. 
b. K. Bison presents on timeline of commission set up, next steps, and wraps up 

meeting – asks about format of next meeting. 
i. Overall preference from delegate for hybrid meeting 

 
XVI. Adjourn 

a. L. Groshong calls for a voice vote to adjourn the meeting and the motion passes. 



 
 

 

 

Social Work Compact Legislative Update 
 

2023 SW Compact Legislative Enactments 

State Bill Number Date Enacted 
   
1. Missouri SB 70 July 6th, 2023 

 

2024 SW Compact Legislative Enactments 

2. South Dakota HB 1015 February 5th, 2024 
3. Utah HB 44 March 14th, 2024 
4. Washington HB 1939 March 19th, 2024 
5. Kentucky HB 56 April 5th, 2024 
6. Kansas HB 2484 April 12th, 2024 
7. Virginia HB 326 April 8th, 2024 
8. Nebraska LB 932 April 15th, 2024 
9. Vermont H 543 April 23rd, 2024 
10. Maine LD 2140 April 26th, 2024 
11. Georgia SB 195 May 2nd, 2024 
12. Iowa HF 2512 May 3rd, 2024 
13. Alabama SB 208 May 5th, 2024 
14. Ohio SB 90 Mayb 10th, 2024 
15. Connecticut HB 5197 May 21st, 2024 
16. Minnesota HF 5247 May 24th, 2024 
17. Tennessee SB 2134 May 28th, 2024 
18. Colorado HB 24-1002 June 3rd, 2024 
19. Arizona SB 1036 June 21st, 2024 
20. Louisiana HB 888 June 25th, 2024 
21. Rhode Island HB 7350 June 25th  , 2024 
22. New Hampshire  HB 1190 July 7th, 2024 
   

 

 

 



 
 

 

Compact 2025 Legislation Pending (as of January 22th, 2025) 

State Bill Number Status 
Florida HB 27/ SB 220 Filed 
Indiana SB 0163 Filed 
Maryland SB 0345/ SB 0174 Filed 
Massachusetts HD 2460/ SD 1735 Filed 
Mississippi HB 670 Filed 
Montana SB 140 Filed 
Nevada SB 68 Filed 
New Jersey S2688/A2813 Filed 
North Dakota HB 1035 Filed 
Oklahoma HB 2261 Filed 
Oregon HB 2554 Filed 
Pennsylvania  HB 1841 Filed 
South Carolina HB 3633 Filed 
   

Social Work Licensure Compact Section 10-C-21 

C. The Commission shall have the following powers: 

21. Determine whether a State’s adopted language is materially different from the 
Model Compact language such that the State would not qualify for participation in 
the Compact;  

Social Work Licensure Compact Section 14-A-1 

1. On or after the effective date of the Compact, the Commission shall convene 
and review the enactment of each of the first seven Member States (“Charter 
Member States”) to determine if the statute enacted by each such Charter 
Member State is materially different than the model Compact statute. 

a. A Charter Member State whose enactment is found to be materially 
different from the model Compact statute shall be entitled to the default 
process set forth in Section 13. 

b. If any Member State is later found to be in default, or is terminated or 
withdraws from the Compact, the Commission shall remain in existence 
and the Compact shall remain in effect even if the number of Member 
States should be less than seven.  



Roberts Rules of Order – Simplified 
 
Guiding Principles: 

• Everyone has the right to participate in discussion if they wish, before anyone may 
speak a second time. 

• Everyone has the right to know what is going on at all times. Only urgent matters may 
interrupt a speaker. 

• Only one thing (motion) can be discussed at a time. 
 
A motion is the topic under discussion (e.g., “I move that we add a coffee break to this meeting”). After 
being recognized by the president of the board, any member can introduce a motion when no other 
motion is on the table. A motion requires a second to be considered. If there is no second, the matter is 
not considered.  Each motion must be disposed of (passed, defeated, tabled, referred to committee, or 
postponed indefinitely). 

 
How to do things: 
 

You want to bring up a new idea before the group. 
After recognition by the president of the board, present your motion. A second is required for 
the motion to go to the floor for discussion, or consideration. 
 
You want to change some of the wording in a motion under discussion. 
After recognition by the president of the board, move to amend by 

• adding words, 

• striking words or 

• striking and inserting words. 

 
You like the idea of a motion being discussed, but you need to reword it beyond simple word 
changes. 
Move to substitute your motion for the original motion. If it is seconded, discussion will continue 
on both motions and eventually the body will vote on which motion they prefer. 

 
You want more study and/or investigation given to the idea being discussed. 

Move to refer to a committee. Try to be specific as to the charge to the committee. 

 
You want more time personally to study the proposal being discussed. 

Move to postpone to a definite time or date. 

 
You are tired of the current discussion. 
Move to limit debate to a set period of time or to a set number of speakers. Requires a 2/3rds vote. 
 
You have heard enough discussion. 

Move to close the debate.  Also referred to as calling the question. This cuts off discussion and 
brings the assembly to a vote on the pending question only. Requires a 2/3rds vote. 
 
You want to postpone a motion until some later time. 
Move to table the motion. The motion may be taken from the table after 1 item of business has 
been conducted. If the motion is not taken from the table by the end of the next meeting, it is 
dead. To kill a motion at the time it is tabled requires a 2/3rds vote. A majority is required to table 
a motion without killing it. 



You believe the discussion has drifted away from the agenda and want to bring it back. 
“Call for orders of the day.” 
 
You want to take a short break. 
Move to recess for a set period of time. 
 
You want to end the meeting. 
Move to adjourn. 
 
You are unsure the president of the board announced the results of a vote correctly. 
Without being recognized, call for a “division of the house." A  roll call vote will then be taken. 
 
You are confused about a procedure being used and want clarification. 
Without recognition, call for "Point of Information" or "Point of Parliamentary Inquiry." The 
president of the board will ask you to state your question and will attempt to clarify the situation. 

 
You have changed your mind about something that was voted on earlier in the meeting 

for which you were on the winning side. 

Move to reconsider. If the majority agrees, the motion comes back on the floor as though the 

vote had not occurred. 

 
You want to change an action voted on at an earlier meeting. 

Move to rescind. If previous written notice is given, a simple majority is required. If no notice is 

given, a 2/3rds vote is required. 
 
Unanimous Consent: 
If a matter is considered relatively minor or opposition is not expected, a call for unanimous consent 
may be requested.  If the request is made by others, the president of the board will repeat the request 
and then pause for objections.  If none are heard, the motion passes.  

 
• You may INTERRUPT a speaker for these reasons only:  

o to get information about business –point of information to get information about 
rules– parliamentary inquiry 

o if you can't hear, safety reasons, comfort, etc. –question of privilege 
o if you see a breach of the rules –point of order 
o if you disagree with the president of the board’s ruling –appeal 
o if you disagree with a call for Unanimous Consent –object 

 

Quick Reference 
  

Must Be 
Seconded 

 
Open for 

Discussion 

 
Can be 

Amended 

Vote Count 

Required to 
Pass 

May Be 

Reconsidered or 
Rescinded 

Main Motion √ √ √ Majority √ 

Amend Motion √ √  Majority √ 

Kill a Motion √   Majority √ 

Limit Debate √  √ 2/3
rds √ 

Close Discussion √   2/3
rds √ 

Recess √  √ Majority  

Adjourn (End meeting) √   Majority  

Refer to Committee √ √ √ Majority √ 

Postpone to a later time √ √ √ Majority √ 

Table √   Majority  

Postpone Indefinitely √ √ √ Majority √ 
 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 1 of 8 

SOCIAL WORK LICENSURE COMPACT 

BYLAWS 

ARTICLE I 

Commission Purpose, Function and Bylaws 

Section 1. Purpose. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Social Work Licensure Compact, (the “Compact”), the Social Work 
Licensure Compact Commission (the “Commission”) is established to fulfill the objectives of the 
Compact, through a means of joint cooperative action among the Member States, namely, to 
facilitate the interstate practice of social work and improve public access to social work services 
by establishing a pathway for a Regulated Social Worker to obtain multistate licenses to authorize 
practice in other states participating in the Compact.  

Section 2. Functions. 

In pursuit of the fundamental objectives set forth in the Compact, the Commission shall, as 
necessary or required, exercise all of the powers and fulfill all of the duties delegated to it by the 
Member States. The Commission’s activities shall include, but are not limited to, the following: 
the promulgation of binding rules and operating procedures; equitable distribution of the costs, 
benefits and obligations of the Compact among the Member States; enforcement of Commission 
Rules, Operating Procedures and Bylaws; provision of dispute resolution; Coordination of training 
and education; and the collection and dissemination of information concerning the activities of the 
Compact, as provided by the Compact, or as determined by the Commission to be warranted by, 
and consistent with, the objectives and provisions of the Compact. 

Section 3. Bylaws. 

As required by the Compact, these Bylaws shall govern the management and operations of the 
Commission. As adopted and subsequently amended, these Bylaws shall remain at all times subject 
to, and limited by, the terms of the Compact. 

ARTICLE II 

Membership 

Section 1. Purpose.  

The Commission Membership shall be comprised as provided by the Compact. 

Section 2. Commissioners.  

Each Member State shall have and be limited to one delegate. A delegate shall be referred to as 
the Commissioner of the Member State, or alternatively, a “Commission Member” for purposes 
of these Bylaws. Each Member State shall forward the name of its Commissioner to the national 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 2 of 8 

office of the Commission, who will advise the Commission chairperson. The national office of the 
Commission shall promptly advise the appropriate appointing authority of the Member State of 
the need to appoint a new Commissioner upon the expiration of a designated term or the occurrence 
of mid-term vacancies. If a resignation of a Commissioner occurs or a change is made by the state 
appointing authority, it is the responsibility of the Member State to inform the Commission of the 
vacancy or change. 

ARTICLE III 

Officers 

Section 1. Election and Succession. 

The officers of the Commission shall include a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Secretary, 
Treasurer and Past Chair. The officers shall be duly appointed Commission Members. Officers 
shall be elected annually by the Commission at any meeting at which a quorum is present and shall 
serve for one year or until their successors are elected by the Commission. The officers so elected 
shall serve without compensation or remuneration, except as provided by the Compact. 

Section 2. Duties. 

The officers shall perform all duties of their respective offices as provided by the Compact and 
these Bylaws. Such duties shall include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Chairperson. The Chairperson shall call and preside at all meetings of the Commission, 
shall prepare agendas for such meetings, shall make appointments to all committees of 
the Commission and, in accordance with the Commission’s directions, or subject to 
ratification by the Commission, shall act on the Commission’s behalf during the 
interims between Commission meetings. 
 

b. Vice Chairperson. The Vice Chairperson shall, in the absence or at the direction of the 
Chairperson, perform any or all of the duties of the Chairperson. In the event of a 
vacancy in the office of Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson shall serve as acting until a 
new Chairperson is elected by the Commission.  

 
c. Secretary. The Secretary shall keep minutes of all Commission meetings and shall act 

as the custodian of all documents and records pertaining to the status of the Compact 
and the business of the Commission. 

 
d. Treasurer. The Treasurer, with the assistance of the Commission’s executive director, 

shall act as custodian of all Commission funds and shall be responsible for monitoring 
the administration of all fiscal policies and procedures set forth in the Compact or 
adopted by the Commission. Pursuant to the Compact, the treasurer shall execute such 
bond as may be required by the Commission covering the treasurer, the executive 
director and any other officers, Commission Members and Commission personnel, as 
determined by the Commission, who may be responsible for the receipt, disbursement, 
or management of Commission funds. 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 3 of 8 

 
e. Past Chair. The Past Chair is the most recent previous Chair who is still serving as a 

Commission member and shall perform such duties as may be requested by the 
Commission. 

Section 3. Costs and Expense Reimbursement. 

Subject to the availability of budgeted funds, the officers shall be reimbursed for any actual and 
necessary costs and expenses incurred by the officers in the performance of their duties and 
responsibilities as officers of the Commission. 

ARTICLE IV 

Executive Committee 

Section 1. Powers, Duties, and Responsibilities. 

The Executive Committee shall have the power to act on behalf of the Commission according to 
the terms of this Compact. The powers, duties and responsibilities of the Executive Committee 
shall include: 

a. Overseeing the day-to-day activities of the administration of the Compact including 
compliance with the provisions of the Compact, the Commission’s Rules and bylaws; 
 

b. Recommending to the Commission changes to the Rules or bylaws, changes to this 
Compact legislation, fees charged to Compact Participating States, fees charged to 
Licensees and other fees; 

 
c. Ensuring Compact administration services are appropriately provided, including by 

contract; 
 
d. Preparing and recommending the budget; 
 
e. Maintaining financial records on behalf of the Commission; 
 
f. Monitoring Compact compliance of Participating States and providing compliance 

reports to the Commission; 
 
g. Establishing additional committees as necessary; 
 
h. Exercising the powers and duties of the Commission during the interim between 

Commission meetings, except for adopting or amending Rules, adopting or amending 
these Bylaws and exercising any other powers and duties expressly reserved to the 
Commission by Rule or these Bylaws. 

Section 2. Composition of Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee shall be composed of seven (7) members: 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 4 of 8 

a. The Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary and Treasurer [optional: Past Chair] of the 
Commission and any other members of the Commission who serve on the Executive 
Committee shall be voting members of the Executive Committee; and 
 

b. Other than the Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary and Treasurer [optional: and Past Chair], 
the Commission shall elect three (3) [alternative if Past Chair is included: two (2)] 
voting members from the current membership of the Commission. 

 
c. Ex-Officio: The Compact authorizes up to four (4) ex-officio, nonvoting members from 

four (4) recognized national Social Work organizations. The ex-officio, nonvoting 
members of the Executive Committee are as follows:  

 
a. One (1) ex-officio representative which shall rotate every ____ years among a 

list of recognized national Social Work organizations which the Commission 
shall approve by vote/Rule. 

b. One (1) ex-officio representative from _______________________. 
c. One (1) ex-officio representative from _______________________. 
d. One (1) ex-officio representative from _______________________. 

 

The Commission may remove any member of the Executive Committee by an affirmative vote of 
a majority of the current membership of the Commission  

Section 3. Executive Committee Meetings. 

The Executive Committee shall meet at least once each calendar year at a time and place to be 
determined by the Executive Committee. 

All meetings at which the Executive Committee intends to take formal action on a matter shall be 
open to the public, except that the Executive Committee may meet in a closed, non-public session 
of a public meeting when dealing with any of the matters for which the Commission is authorized 
to convene in a closed, non-public meeting under the Compact. 

The Executive Committee shall give five (5) business days’ notice of its public meetings, posted 
on its website and as it may otherwise determine to provide notice to persons with an interest in 
the public matters the public matters the Executive Committee intends to address at those meetings. 

The Executive Committee may hold an emergency meeting when acting for the Commission to: 

a. Meet an imminent threat to public health, safety or welfare; 
 

b. Prevent a loss of Commission of Participating State funds; or 
 

c. Protect public health and safety. 

ARTICLE V 

Qualified Immunity, Defense and Indemnification 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 5 of 8 

Section 1. Immunity. 

The members, officers, executive director, employees and representatives of the Commission shall 
be immune from suit and liability, both personally and in their official capacity, for any claim for 
damage to or loss of property or personal injury or other civil liability caused by or arising out of 
any actual or alleged act, error, or omission that occurred, or that the person against whom the 
claim is made had a reasonable basis for  believing occurred within the scope of Commission 
employment, duties or responsibilities; provided that nothing in this paragraph shall be construed 
to protect any such person from suit or liability for any damage, loss, injury or liability caused by 
the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person. The procurement of insurance of 
any type by the Commission shall not in any way compromise or limit the immunity granted 
hereunder. 

Section 2. Defense. 

Subject to the provisions of the Compact and Rules promulgated thereunder, the Commission shall 
defend any member, officer, executive director, employee and representative of the Commission 
in any civil action seeking to impose liability arising out of any actual or alleged act, error or 
omission that occurred within the scope of Commission employment, duties or responsibilities, or 
as determined by the Commission that the person against whom the claim is made had a reasonable 
basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission employment, duties or 
responsibilities; provided that nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit that person from 
retaining their own counsel at their own expense; and provided further, that the actual or alleged 
act, error or omission did not result from that person’s intentional or willful or wanton misconduct. 

Section 3. Indemnification. 

Notwithstanding Section 1 of this Article V, should any member, officer, executive director, 
employee or representative of the Commission be held liable for the amount of any settlement or 
judgment arising out of any actual or alleged act, error or omission that  occurred within the scope 
of that individual's employment, duties or responsibilities for  the Commission, or that the person 
to whom that individual is liable had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of 
the individual's employment, duties or  responsibilities for the Commission, the Commission shall 
indemnify and hold harmless such individual, provided that the actual or alleged act, error or 
omission did not result from the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of the individual. 

ARTICLE VI 

Meetings of the Commission 

Section 1. Meetings and Notice.  

The Commission shall meet at least once each calendar year at a time and place to be determined 
by the Commission. Additional meetings may be scheduled at the discretion of the chairperson, 
and must be called upon the request of a majority of Commission Members, as provided by the 
Compact. All Commission Members shall be given written notice of Commission meetings at least 
thirty (30) days prior to their scheduled dates. Final agendas shall be provided to all Commission 
Members no later than ten (10) days prior to any meeting of the Commission. Thereafter, additional 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 6 of 8 

agenda items requiring Commission action may not be added to the final agenda, except by an 
affirmative vote of a majority of the Members. All Commission meetings shall be open to the 
public, except as set forth in Commission Rules or as otherwise provided by the Compact. Prior 
public notice shall be posted on the Commission’s website at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
public meeting. A meeting may be closed to the public where the Commission determines by two-
thirds (2/3rds) vote of its Members that there exists at least one of the conditions for closing a 
meeting, as provided by the Compact or Commission Rules. 

Section 2. Quorum. 

Commission Members representing a majority of the Member States shall constitute a quorum for 
the transaction of business, except as otherwise required in these Bylaws. The participation of a 
Commission Member from a Member State in a meeting is sufficient to constitute the presence of 
that state for purposes of determining the existence of a quorum, provided the Member present is 
entitled to vote on behalf of the Member State represented. The presence of a quorum must be 
established before any vote of the Commission can be taken.  

Section 3. Voting. 

Each Member State represented at any meeting of the Commission by its Member is entitled to 
one vote. A Member shall vote himself or herself and shall not delegate his or her vote to another 
Member. Members may participate in meetings by telephone or other means of telecommunication 
or electronic communication. Except as otherwise required by the Compact or these Bylaws, any 
question submitted to a vote of the Commission shall be determined by a simple majority. 

Section 4. Procedure. 

Matters of parliamentary procedure not covered by these Bylaws shall be governed by Robert’s 
Rules of Order. 

ARTICLE VII 

Committees 

The Commission may establish such committees as it deems necessary to carry out its objectives, 
which shall include, but not be limited to Finance, Rules, Compliance, Training, Communications 
and Outreach, and Leadership Nomination. The composition, procedures, duties, budget and 
tenure of such committees shall be determined by the Commission. 

ARTICLE VIII 

Finance 

Section 1. Fiscal Year. 

The Commission’s fiscal year shall begin on July 1 and end on June 30. 

Section 2. Budget. 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 7 of 8 

The Commission shall operate on an annual budget cycle and shall, in any given year, adopt 
budgets for the following fiscal year or years only after notice and comment as provided by the 
Compact. 

Section 3. Accounting and Audit. 

The Commission, through the Executive Committee, shall keep accurate and timely accounts of 
its internal receipts and disbursements of the Commission funds, other than receivership assets. 
The Commission’s financial accounts and reports, including the Commission’s system of internal 
controls and procedures, shall be audited annually by an independent certified or licensed public 
accountant. As required by the Compact, the report of such independent audit shall be included in 
and become part of the Commission’s annual report to the Member States. The Commission’s 
internal accounts, any workpapers related to any internal audit and any workpapers related the 
independent audit shall be confidential; provided, that such materials shall be made available: 1) 
in compliance with the order of any court of competent jurisdiction; ii) pursuant to such reasonable 
rules as the Commission shall promulgate; and iii) to any Commissioner of a Member State, or 
their duly authorized representatives. 

Section 4. Public Participation in Meetings. 

Upon prior written request to the Commission, any person who desires to present a statement on a 
matter that is on the agenda shall be afforded an opportunity to present an oral statement to the 
Commission at an open meeting. The chairperson may, depending on the circumstances, afford 
any person who desires to present a statement on a matter that is on the agenda an opportunity to 
be heard absent a prior written request to the Commission. The chairperson may limit the time and 
manner of any such statements at any open meeting. 

Section 5. Debt Limitations. 

The Commission shall monitor its own and its committees’ affairs for compliance with all 
provisions of the Compact, its rules and these Bylaws governing the incursion of debt and the 
pledging of credit. 

Section 6. Travel Reimbursements. 

Subject to the availability of budgeted funds and unless otherwise provided by the Commission, 
Commission Members shall be reimbursed for any actual and necessary expenses incurred 
pursuant to their attendance at all duly convened meetings of the Commission or its committees as 
provided by the Compact. 

ARTICLE IX 

Withdrawal, Default, and Termination 

Member States may withdraw from the Compact only as provided by the Compact. The 
Commission may terminate a Member State as provided by the Compact. 

ARTICLE X 



 

Bylaws 
Social Work Licensure Compact Commission Page 8 of 8 

Adoption and Amendment of Bylaws 

Any Bylaw may be adopted, amended or repealed by a majority vote of the Members, provided 
that written notice and the full text of the proposed action is provided to all Commission Members 
at least thirty (30) days prior to the meeting at which the action is to be considered. Failing the 
required notice, a two-thirds (2/3rds) majority vote of the Members shall be required for such 
action. 

ARTICLE XI 

Dissolution of the Compact 

The Compact shall dissolve effective upon the date of the withdrawal or the termination by default 
of a Member State which reduces Membership in the Compact to one Member State as provided 
by the Compact. Upon dissolution of the Compact, the Compact becomes null and void and shall 
be of no further force or effect, and the business and affairs of the Commission shall be concluded 
in an orderly manner and according to applicable law. Each Member State in good standing at the 
time of the Compact’s dissolution shall receive a pro rata distribution of surplus funds based upon 
a ratio, the numerator of which shall be the amount of its last paid annual assessment, and the 
denominator of which shall be the sum of the last paid annual assessments of all Member States in 
good standing at the time of the Compact’s dissolution. A Member State is in good standing if it 
has paid its assessments timely. 



 

 

 

Elections Information: Positions and Duties 

The Commission will elect two officers, five members-at-large to serve on the Executive 
Committee from among the current delegates to the Commission, and up to four ex-officio, 
nonvoting members from four recognized national social work organizations. All eleven of 
those elected will be members of the Executive Committee. 

Below are descriptions of the duties of the Executive Committee and its officers as written 
in Compact bylaws. 

The Commission’s officers shall perform all duties of their respective offices as the 
Compact and these Bylaws provide. Their duties shall include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

A. Chair: The Chair shall call and preside at Commission and Executive Committee 
meetings; prepare agendas for the meetings; act on Commission’s behalf between 
Commission meetings. 

B. Vice Chair: The Vice Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair in their absence 
or at the Chair’s direction. In the event of a vacancy in the Chair’s office, the Vice 
Chair shall serve until the Commission elects a new Chair. 

C. Members-at-large (5 positions open): fulfill duties of the Executive Committee 
as outlined below. 

The Executive Committee shall: 

a. The Executive Committee shall have the power to act on behalf of the 
Commission according to the terms of this Compact. The powers, 
duties, and responsibilities of the Executive Committee shall include: 

b. Oversee the day-to-day activities of the administration of the compact 
including enforcement and compliance with the provisions of the 
compact, its Rules and bylaws, and other such duties as deemed 
necessary; 

c. Recommend to the Commission changes to the Rules or bylaws, 
changes to this Compact legislation, fees charged to Compact 
Member States, fees charged to Licensees, and other fees; 

d. Ensure Compact administration services are appropriately provided, 
including by contract 



 
 

e. Prepare and recommend the budget; 
f. Maintain financial records on behalf of the Commission; 
g. Monitor Compact compliance of Member States and provide 

compliance reports to the Commission; 
h. Establish additional committees as necessary; 
i. Exercise the powers and duties of the Commission during the interim 

between Commission meetings, except for adopting or amending 
Rules, adopting or amending bylaws, and exercising any other powers 
and duties expressly reserved to the Commission by Rule or bylaw; 
and 

j. Other duties as provided in the Rules or bylaws of the Commission. 

 D. Ex-officio Members (4 positions open): The ex-officio members will be selected 
by their respective organizations. 

State Name Position Bio 
KY Hank Cecil Chair My name is Hank Cecil, and I am serving my second 

term as Chair of the Kentucky Board of Social Work. I 
have held leadership roles in the NASW Kentucky 
Chapter, including President, Vice President, and 
Treasurer.  I am licensed as an LCSW with 30 years of 
experience. I have dedicated my career to advancing 
social work and addressing community needs. 
In my professional career, I retired as Vice-President 
of Quality and Utilization at Four Rivers Behavioral 
Health, where I also oversaw Information Technology. 
With advanced degrees in IT alongside a Master of 
Social Work, I have successfully integrated 
technology and social services to enhance 
organizational efficiency. My experience includes 
leading teams, developing operational manuals, 
authoring HIPAA policies and procedures, and serving 
as a HIPAA compliance officer. 
In addition, I volunteer as the coordinator for Stephen 
Ministry at my church, reflecting my dedication to 
service. 
I have been a steadfast supporter of the SW Compact 
since before its initial meeting in May 2021. I bring the 
time, passion, and expertise necessary to serve as 
Chair of the Commission. My unique blend of skills 
can serve the Commission's mission, and it would be 
an honor to contribute to its success.  



 
 

 
SD Kelli Willis Vice 

Chair 
My name is Kelli Willis. I am a board member for the 
South Dakota Board of Social Work Examiners as well 
as a Readjustment Counselor for the Sioux Falls Vet 
Center. 
I obtained my master’s in social work from the 
University of South Dakota in 2012 – I have worked in 
various fields from corrections, medical social work, 
private practice, and now veteran care. 
I am licensed in multiple states and am well versed in 
the challenges this can create in ensuring all the 
necessary requirements are met for each state. I feel 
this experience allows me to bring a specific insight to 
the table. I do believe I would be an excellent 
candidate for the position of Vice Chair.  
 

UT Jana 
Johansen 

Secretary Jana Johansen is currently a Licensing Administrator 
for the Utah Department of Commerce, Division of 
Professional Licensing the state’s umbrella licensing 
organization.  She has served in Utah state 
government for over a decade. 
In my current position, I serve as the Utah delegate for 
the Social Work, Counseling, and PSYPAC licensure 
compact commissions.  I facilitate over twenty-five 
different mental health license types as well as 4 
professional licensing Board/committees.  In addition, 
I manage a team of 27 which includes the Bureau 
Managers of Nursing and Cosmetology (two of the 
biggest regulated professions in Utah) as well as a 
Chief Investigator, and their respective teams.    I am a 
very organized, logical, and structured person, and 
utilizes these qualities in all that I do.  One of the most 
enjoyable parts of my duties is writing Administrative 
Rule to support legislation.   
Working as a licensing administrator and having been 
a compact commissioner for over five years, I have 
developed a deep understanding of the unique 
challenges and demands of this role. I am adept at 
managing complex calendars, coordinating 
arrangements, and preparing comprehensive reports. 
My strong attention to detail and exceptional 
organizational skills have consistently allowed me to 
streamline processes and enhance productivity. 
 



 
 

LA Hyacinth 
Mckee 

Member-
at-large 

As a multi-level systems practitioner, Dr. Hyacinth 
McKee has provided services in the profession of 
social work for over twenty- five years.  Her 
professional experience in micro practice includes 
but is not limited to psychotherapy as a private 
practitioner, school based mental health services, 
supervisory social work and professor in higher 
education. As a macro practitioner, Dr. McKee served 
in several state commissioned roles appointed by the 
governor of Louisiana during the COVID-19 pandemic 
and assisted as social work leader in developing state 
policies and laws that impact the most vulnerable and 
marginalized in her state of Louisiana. With practical 
language and a multicultural perspective, currently as 
the chair of the Louisiana State Board of Social Work 
Examiners, she continues to serve as a “systems 
change” leader utilizing strategies inclusive of 
leveraging stakeholders and informed data to 
transform regulatory practices.  From grassroots 
organizing, non-profit board governance, social work 
association leadership to state level regulation, Dr. 
McKee remains purposeful and strategic in her 
approach to work as a “thought partner” to address 
complex matters that ensure public protection and 
professional social work title protection.    
 

MO Justin 
Bennett 

Member-
at-large 

My name is Justin Bennett. I am a Licensed Clinical 
Social Worker (LCSW) representing the state of 
Missouri, and I am seeking to serve as a Member-at-
large on the Executive Committee.  
 
I have been practicing social work since 2007. I 
became an LMSW in 2011 and then an LCSW in 2013. 
Throughout my career I have served at all levels of 
practice, including executive leadership. I have also 
been an adjunct instructor since 2013. I was 
appointed to the Missouri Committee for Social 
Workers in 2015, and I have served 3 terms as Chair 
and 2 terms as Secretary.  
 
I have worked with state and federal agencies, and 
this experience has fostered a deep understanding of 
developing and operationalizing complex rules and 
regulations. I also have experience in strategic 



 
 

planning and conflict resolution, which I believe will 
be helpful in navigating the monumental tasks ahead 
of the commission. 
 
As an educator and social worker I share the values of 
many future and current social workers. As such, it is 
important that this compact be affordable, 
accessible, and equitable. 
 
Missouri is motivated to effect positive change and 
would appreciate your consideration and support for 
a position on the Executive Committee.   
 

OH Kevin 
Fowler 

Member-
at-large 

Kevin Fowler is the Chief of the Licensing Division for 
the Ohio Counselor, Social Worker, and Marriage & 
Family Therapist Board. He has over 21 years of 
experience working in state government for several 
regulatory agencies including the Ohio Environmental 
Protection Agency, the Department of Commerce, 
and the Department of Administrative Services. His 
experience includes rule development, process 
improvement, evaluating contract proposals, and 
gathering business requirements for new data 
systems.  
 
In his current role for the Board, Kevin oversees the 
active licensure of nearly 30,000 social workers, 
14,000 counselors, and 900 marriage and family 
therapists. That includes the development of policies 
and procedures for reviewing licensure requirements, 
developing rules related to licensure, and managing 
database issues.  
 
In June of 2024, Kevin served as a subject matter 
expert on the evaluation team that awarded the 
State’s eLicense (Ohio’s cloud-based license system) 
managed services contract. The eLicense system is 
used by 23 State agencies, boards, and commissions 
to manage the issuance, renewal, reinstatement, and 
maintenance of over 490 license types for nearly 
1,000,000 licensees.  
 

 



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Ex-Officio Organization Selection 

 

The Social Work Compact legislation allows for “ex-officio” commission membership. These 
positions are non-voting seats on the commission’s executive committee for the commission to 
receive input from outside entities.    

Please see the following language from the Social Work Compact:  

• Up to four (4) ex-officio, nonvoting members from four (4) recognized national Social Work 
organizations.  

• The ex-officio members will be selected by their respective organizations.  

In their last meeting, the compact commission established one of these seats will be a rotating 
position shared among several national social work organizations.   

The organizations that were discussed: 

• The Association of Social Work Boards (ASWB) 
o ASWB is the nonprofit organization composed of the social work regulatory boards 

and colleges of all 50 U.S. states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, 
Guam, the Northern Mariana Islands, and all 10 Canadian provinces. 

• The National Association of Social Workers (NASW) 
o Founded in 1955, the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) is the largest 

membership organization of professional social workers in the world. NASW works 
to enhance the professional growth and development of its members, to create and 
maintain professional standards, and to advance sound social policies 

• Clinical Social Work Association 
o CSWA's membership currently consists of licensed clinical social workers, new 

professionals (clinical social workers who have graduated within the last four 
years), emeritus members, students and affiliated state societies. 

• Council on Social Work (CSWE) 
o Founded in 1952, the Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) is the national 

association representing social work education in the United States. Its members 
include over 750 accredited baccalaureate and master’s degree social work 
programs, as well as individual social work educators, practitioners, and agencies 
dedicated to advancing quality social work education.  

 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

• National Association of Black Social Workers (NABSW) 
o The National Association of Black Social Workers is a community of Black Social 

Workers united by a shared passion for uplifting and advocating for Black 
communities by way of adhering to the NABSW Code of Ethics.  

• Latino Social Workers Organization (LSWO) 
o For over 20 years, the LSWO has focused on bringing quality continuing education 

to social workers, students, and allied health professionals.  We have had 
conferences, in New York, Chicago, San Francisco, Miami, Portland, and Seattle. 
We are a network of social work faculty and professional social workers who believe 
in the recruitment and retention of Latinx students in higher education.  

 



 

1 
 

Social Work Licensure Compact Commission 1 

 2 

Title of Rule:  Rule on Rulemaking 3 

Reason for Rule: To further outline and clarify the rule promulgation process of the Social 4 
Work Licensure Compact Commission. 5 

    6 

 7 

Chapter 1:  Rulemaking 8 

Authority:  9 

 Section 10: Establishment of Social Work Licensure Compact Commission  10 

 Section 12: Rulemaking 11 

Section 14: Effective Date, Withdrawal, and Amendment 12 

1.0 Purpose: Pursuant to Section 12 of the Compact, the Social Work Licensure Compact 13 
Commission shall promulgate reasonable and lawful uniform rules to 14 
facilitate and coordinate implementation and administration of the Social 15 
Work Licensure Compact. This Rule will become effective upon passage 16 
by the Social Work Licensure Compact Commission as provided in Section 17 
12 of the Social Work Licensure Compact. 18 

1.1 Definition(s): (a) “Commission” means: the Social Work Licensure Compact 19 
Commission, which is the joint administrative body whose membership 20 
consists of all Member States.  21 

(b) “Commissioner” means: the individual appointed by a Member State 22 
to serve as the member of the Commission for that Member State. 23 

(c) “Compact” means the Social Work Licensure Compact. 24 

(d) “Member State” means a state that has enacted the Compact and been 25 
admitted to the Commission in accordance with the Compact and the 26 
Commission Rules, and which has not withdrawn or been terminated from 27 
the Compact.  28 

(d) “Rule” means: a regulation, principle or directive promulgated by the 29 
Commission pursuant to the criteria set forth in Section 12 of the Compact 30 
that has the force and effect of law in a Member State and includes the 31 
amendment, repeal, or suspension of an existing Rule. 32 

(e) “Rules Committee” means: a committee that is established as a standing 33 
committee to develop reasonable and lawful uniform rules for consideration 34 



 

2 
 

by the Commission and subsequent implementation by the states and to 35 
review existing rules and recommend necessary changes to the Commission 36 
for consideration. 37 

(f) “Social Work Services” means the application of social work theory, 38 
knowledge, methods, ethics, and the professional use of self to restore or 39 
enhance social, psychosocial, or biopsychosocial functioning of individuals, 40 
couples, families, groups, organizations, and communities through the care 41 
and services provided by a Regulated Social Worker as set forth in the 42 
Member State’s statutes and regulations in the State where the services are 43 
being provided. 44 

(g) “State” means: any state, commonwealth, district, or territory of the 45 
United States of America. 46 

1.2 Proposed Rules or Amendments: Rules shall be adopted by majority vote of the Member 47 
States of the Commission pursuant to the criteria set forth in Section 12 of the Compact and in the 48 
following manner:  49 

(a)  New rules and amendments to existing rules proposed pursuant to the Compact and the 50 
Commission Bylaws shall be submitted to the Commission office for referral to the Rules 51 
Committee in any of the following ways: 52 

(1) Any Commissioner may submit a proposed Rule for referral to the Rules 53 
Committee during the next scheduled Commission meeting. 54 
 55 
(2) Standing Committees of the Commission may propose Rules amendments by 56 
majority vote of that Committee. 57 

 58 

1.3 Drafting of Proposed Rules: The Rules Committee shall prepare a draft of all proposed rules 59 
and provide the draft to the Executive Committee to provide to all Commissioners for review and 60 
comments. Based on the comments made by the Commissioners, the Rules Committee shall 61 
prepare a final draft of the proposed rule(s) or amendments for consideration by the Commission 62 
not later than 30 days prior to the next Commission meeting. 63 

1.4 Notice of Proposed Rulemaking Prior to Public Hearing: Prior to promulgation and 64 
adoption of a final Rule, the Commission shall hold a public hearing and allow persons to provide 65 
oral and written comments, data, facts, opinions, and arguments. At least 30 days prior to the public 66 
hearing, the Commission shall provide a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking: 67 

1. On the website of the Commission or other publicly accessible platform; and 68 

2. To persons who have requested notice of the Commission’s notices of proposed 69 
rulemaking. 70 

1.5 Contents of Notice of Proposed Rulemaking: The Notice of Proposed Rulemaking shall 71 
include: 72 



 

3 
 

(a) The time, date, and location of the public hearing at which the Commission will hear 73 
public comments on the proposed Rule and, if different, the time, date, and location of the 74 
meeting where the Commission will consider and vote on the proposed Rule; 75 

(b) The mechanism for access to the hearing if the hearing is to be held via 76 
telecommunication, video conference, or other electronic means; 77 

(c) The text of the proposed Rule and the reason for the proposed Rule. 78 

(d) A request for comments on the proposed Rule from any interested person; and 79 

(e) The manner in which interested persons may submit notice to the Commission of their 80 
intention to attend the public meeting and any written comments. 81 

1.6 Public Hearings: All persons wishing to be heard at the public hearing shall notify the 82 
executive director of the Commission or other designated member in writing of their desire to 83 
appear and testify at the hearing not less than five (5) business days before the scheduled date of 84 
the hearing. 85 

Hearings shall be conducted in a manner providing each person who wishes to comment a fair and 86 
reasonable opportunity to comment orally or in writing. 87 

All hearings shall be recorded. A copy of the recording shall be made available upon request. 88 

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as requiring a separate hearing on each Rule. Rules may 89 
be grouped for the convenience of the Commission at hearings required by this chapter. 90 

The Commission shall consider all written and oral comments received prior to taking final action 91 
on the proposed Rule. 92 

1.7 Final Adoption of Rule: At a regular or special meeting of the Commission, which may be 93 
held at the same date and location as the public hearing, the Commission shall, by majority vote 94 
of all Commissioners, take final action on the proposed Rule based on the rulemaking record.  95 

The Commission may adopt changes to the proposed Rule provided the changes do not enlarge 96 
the original purpose of the proposed Rule. The Commission shall provide an explanation of the 97 
reasons for substantive changes made to the proposed Rule as well as reasons for substantive 98 
changes not made that were recommended by commenters. 99 

The Commission shall determine a reasonable effective date for the Rule. Except for an emergency 100 
as provided in Section 1.9, the effective date of the Rule shall be no sooner than thirty (30) days 101 
after the Commission issues the notice that it adopted the Rule. 102 

1.8 Status of Rules Upon Adoption of Compact By Additional Member States; Applicability: 103 
Any state that joins the Compact subsequent to the Commission’s initial adoption of the rules shall 104 
be subject to the rules as they exist on the date on which the Compact becomes law in that state. 105 
Any Rule that has been previously adopted by the Commission shall have the full force and effect 106 
of law on the day the Compact becomes law in that state.  107 

No Member State’s rulemaking requirements shall apply under this Compact. 108 



 

4 
 

The Rules of the Commission shall have the force of law in each Member State, provided, 109 
however, that where the Rules of the Commission conflict with the laws of the Member State 110 
which establish the Member State’s scope of permissible Social Work Services as held by a court 111 
of competent jurisdiction, the rules of the Commission shall be ineffective in that State to the extent 112 
of the conflict. 113 

If, within four (4) years of the date of adoption of a Rule, a majority of the legislatures of the 114 
Member States rejects the Rule by the enactment of statutes in the same manner such legislatures 115 
used to adopt the Compact, the Rule shall have no further force and effect in any Member State.  116 

1.9 Emergency Rulemaking: Upon determination that an emergency exists, the Commission may 117 
consider and adopt an emergency Rule with twenty-four (24) hours’ notice, with the opportunity 118 
to comment, provided that the usual rulemaking procedures provided in the Compact and in this 119 
section shall be retroactively applied to the rule as soon as reasonably possible, in no event later 120 
than ninety (90) days after the effective date of the Rule. For the purposes of this provision, an 121 
emergency rule is one that must be adopted immediately in order to: 122 

1. Meet an imminent threat to public health, safety, or welfare, 123 
2. Prevent a loss of Commission or Member State funds;  124 
3. Meet a deadline for the promulgation of a Rule that is established by federal law or rule; 125 
4. Protect public health and safety. 126 

2.0 Non-Substantive Rule Revisions: The Commission or an authorized committee of the 127 
Commission may direct revisions to a previously adopted Rule or amendment for purposes of 128 
correcting typographical errors, errors in format, errors in consistency, or grammatical errors. 129 
Public notice of any revisions shall be posted on the website of the Commission. The revision shall 130 
be subject to challenge by any person for a period of thirty (30) days after posting. The revision 131 
may be challenged only on grounds that the revision results in a material change to a Rule. A 132 
challenge shall be made in writing and delivered to the Commission prior to the end of the notice 133 
period. If no challenge is made, the revision will take effect without further action. If the revision 134 
is challenged, the revision may not take effect without the approval of the Commission. 135 
 136 

 137 



 

Social Work Licensure Compact Commission 

Rules Document 

 

Title of Rule: Rule on Qualifying National Exam  

Vote on Rule: This rule will be discussed and voted on at the Social Work Licensure 
Compact Commission meeting on February 4-5.  

Public comment: Interested persons may electronically submit written comments on the 
proposed rule to socialworkcompact@csg.org with the subject line “Social Work 
Licensure Compact Rule Comment” or by registering to attending the meeting at which the 
rule will be discussed and voted on. Register to speak here. Written comments on the 
proposed rule must be submitted by 2pm ET the day before the meeting.  

Effective: Upon passage  

Reason for Rule: To further define Qualifying National Exam pursuant to Article 2 and 
Article 4 of the Social Work Licensure Compact.   

History for Rule: February 4, 2025: Rule Proposed at Social Work Compact Commission 
Meeting 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

Chapter 2:  Rule on Qualifying National Exam 

Authority: Article 2: Definitions 

  Article 4: Social Worker Participation in the Compact 

  Article 12: Rulemaking 

 

1.0 Purpose:    
Pursuant to Article 12, the Social Work Licensure Compact Commission 
shall promulgate reasonable and lawful uniform rules to facilitate and 
coordinate implementation and administration of the Social Work Licensure 
Compact. This rule will become effective upon passage by the Social Work 
Licensure Commission as provided in Article 12.  

https://swcompact.org/meetings/full-commission-meetings/


 

1.1 Qualifying National Exam:  

A. As set forth in Article 4.B.(1)(a), a clinical-category Qualifying National 
Exam means the Clinical Examination administered by the Association of 
Social Work Boards. 

B. As set forth in Article 4.C(1)(a), a master’s-category Qualifying National 
Exam means the Masters Examination administered by the Association of 
Social Work Boards 

C. As set forth in Article 4.D(1)(a), a bachelor’s-category Qualifying National 
Exam means the Bachelors Examination administered by the Association of 
Social Work Boards 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ASWB Exam Requirements 
 

 

Exam required for Bachelor’s 
 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exam required for Master’s 
 

 



 
 

 

Exam required for Clinical 
 

 



 

 

 

 
CompactConnect Summary Sheet 

 
In 2023, three occupational licensure compact commissions (the Audiology and Speech-Language 
Pathology, Counseling, and Occupational Therapy Compact Commissions) decided to work 
together to build a compact data system which all three could tailor and use for their collective 
needs. None of the three compact professions had an existing data system upon which otherwise 
to readily build. Working together enables each compact commission to spend less funds on the 
system overall than if they were each individually build one. 

CompactConnect is being built through an agile development process, where future users of the 
system are consulted regularly for their input on system requirements. The process is managed by 
CSG, who helps coordinate communication between the stakeholder commissions and the 
developer, InspiringApps. 

The development of a data system is a foundational piece to operationalize a licensure compact. 
Data systems facilitate the functions of a licensure compact by providing states the ability to 
exchange data on licensee information and disciplinary actions and by enabling eligible licensees 
to apply for a compact authorization to practice. 

The creation, operation and utilization of a data system is defined in the model legislation for 
licensure compacts. Compact commissions are accountable for the development and operations 
of the system, while compact member states are responsible for participating in the connection 
and reporting to the system. 

Compact data systems also represent the costliest and most time intensive component of 
operationalizing a licensure compact. When available, compact data systems have been 
developed from existing systems utilized by a profession and its regulators. 

CompactConnect is financially supported by the three compact commissions through their 
respective funding organizations. Funding is also being contributed by The Council of State 
Governments through its cooperative agreement with the Department of Defense, so that the 
system can also be used by additional compacts in the future. 

If a compact commission decides to use CompactConnect, they will gain access to the base 
features the three primary commissions developed together at no cost. Typically, in order to be 
granted access to a software system, an organization would be required to pay a licensing fee. 
CompactConnect, however, is an open-source platform and does not have this requirement. While 
there is no licensing fee for access to the system, any modification, maintenance, or 
implementation costs would still be borne by the respective compact commission.  

The joint data system project kicked off in May 2024 and is expected to result in a minimum viable 
product of the system in 2025.  
 
Further information about CompactConnect may be found at https://compactconnect.org/.  

https://compactconnect.org/


 
 

 

 

Committee Information 
Time Commitment: Committees typically meet virtually once a month or once every 
two months for one hour. Committees may decide to meet for a longer session 
based on needs. 
 
Rules Committee: A Rules Committee shall be established as a standing 
committee to: 

• develop uniform Compact rules and bylaw amendments and policies for 
consideration by the Commission and concurrent implementation by 
the states; 

• review existing rules and recommend necessary changes to the Commission 
for consideration; 

• draft frequently asked questions to clarify questions arising regarding 
statute, rule, bylaws, policies, and advisory opinions. 
Compliance Committee: A Compliance Committee shall be established as a 
standing committee to: 

• monitor a participating state’s compliance with the terms of the Compact 
and its authorized rules; 

• develop resources for compliance reviews; and 
• develop best practices for party state compliance. 

Finance Committee: A Finance Committee shall be established as a standing 
committee to: 

• provide financial oversight and ensure the Commission is operating within its 
budget; 

• developing financial resources to achieve its purposes; 
• propose fees as authorized in the Compact; 
• investigate potential funding resources; and 
• suggest a fiscal year for the commission. 

Elections Committee: An Elections Committee shall be established as a standing 
committee to: 

• inform the Commissioners on the responsibilities of the office; 
• encourage participation by the Commissioners in the elections process; 
• announce nominations deadline and anticipated vacancies of the Executive 

Committee of the Commission; 
• communicate with incumbents to determine if they wish to run for reelection. 
• accept qualified nominees and prepare a slate of candidates for the election 

of the officers or members at large of the Executive Committee; and 
• present a list of candidates to the Commission including the terms of office 



 
 

 
 
 
 
expiration dates. 
Communications Committee: A Communications Committee shall be a standing 
committee to, in consultation with the Chair of the Commission and the Executive 
Director: 

• onboard new participating state commissioners and administrative staff; 
• create press releases; 
• suggest updates to the website and informational items to media sources; 
• create additional public relations documents and provide presentations 

regarding the work of the Commission if needed. 



 
 

 

 

 

Social Work Licensure Compact Legislation 
 

This project was funded by the Department of Defense.  The following language must be 
enacted into law by a state to officially join the Social Work Licensure Compact. 

No substantive changes should be made to the model language. Any substantive changes may 
jeopardize the enacting state’s participation in the Compact.  The Council of State Governments 
National Center for Interstate Compacts reviews state compact legislation to ensure consistency 
with the model language.  

Please direct inquiries to Kaitlyn Bison at kbison@csg.org. 



1 
 

SOCIAL WORK LICENSURE COMPACT 1 

 2 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 3 

The purpose of this Compact is to facilitate interstate practice of Regulated Social 4 
Workers by improving public access to competent Social Work Services. The Compact 5 
preserves the regulatory authority of States to protect public health and safety through 6 
the current system of State licensure. 7 

This Compact is designed to achieve the following objectives: 8 

A. Increase public access to Social Work Services; 9 

B. Reduce overly burdensome and duplicative requirements associated with holding 10 
multiple licenses; 11 

C. Enhance the Member States’ ability to protect the public’s health and safety; 12 

D. Encourage the cooperation of Member States in regulating multistate practice; 13 

E. Promote mobility and address workforce shortages by eliminating the necessity 14 
for licenses in multiple States by providing for the mutual recognition of other 15 
Member State licenses;  16 

F. Support military families; 17 

G. Facilitate the exchange of licensure and disciplinary information among Member 18 
States; 19 

H. Authorize all Member States to hold a Regulated Social Worker accountable for 20 
abiding by a Member State’s laws, regulations, and applicable professional 21 
standards in the Member State in which the client is located at the time care is 22 
rendered; and 23 

I. Allow for the use of telehealth to facilitate increased access to regulated Social 24 
Work Services. 25 

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS 26 

As used in this Compact, and except as otherwise provided, the following definitions 27 
shall apply: 28 

A. “Active Military Member” means any individual with full-time duty status in the 29 
active armed forces of the United States including members of the National 30 
Guard and Reserve. 31 

B. “Adverse Action” means any administrative, civil, equitable or criminal action 32 
permitted by a State’s laws which is imposed by a Licensing Authority or other 33 
authority against a Regulated Social Worker, including actions against an 34 
individual’s license or Multistate Authorization to Practice such as revocation, 35 



2 
 

suspension, probation, monitoring of the Licensee, limitation on the Licensee’s 36 
practice, or any other Encumbrance on licensure affecting a Regulated Social 37 
Worker’s authorization to practice, including issuance of a cease and desist 38 
action. 39 

C. “Alternative Program” means a non-disciplinary monitoring or practice 40 
remediation process approved by a Licensing Authority to address practitioners 41 
with an Impairment. 42 

D. “Charter Member States” - Member States who have enacted legislation to 43 
adopt this Compact where such legislation predates the effective date of this 44 
Compact as described in Section 14. 45 

E. “Compact Commission” or “Commission” means the government agency 46 
whose membership consists of all States that have enacted this Compact, which 47 
is known as the Social Work Licensure Compact Commission, as described in 48 
Section 10, and which shall operate as an instrumentality of the Member States. 49 

F. “Current Significant Investigative Information” means: 50 

1. Investigative information that a Licensing Authority, after a preliminary 51 
inquiry that includes notification and an opportunity for the Regulated 52 
Social Worker to respond has reason to believe is not groundless and, if 53 
proved true, would indicate more than a minor infraction as may be 54 
defined by the Commission; or 55 

2. Investigative information that indicates that the Regulated Social Worker 56 
represents an immediate threat to public health and safety, as may be 57 
defined by the Commission, regardless of whether the Regulated Social 58 
Worker has been notified and has had an opportunity to respond. 59 

G. “Data System” means a repository of information about Licensees, including, 60 
continuing education, examination, licensure, Current Significant Investigative 61 
Information, Disqualifying Event, Multistate License(s) and Adverse Action 62 
information or other information as required by the Commission. 63 

H. “Disqualifying Event” means any Adverse Action or incident which results in an 64 
Encumbrance that disqualifies or makes the Licensee ineligible to either obtain, 65 
retain or renew a Multistate License. 66 

I. “Domicile” means the jurisdiction in which the Licensee resides and intends to 67 
remain indefinitely. 68 

J. “Encumbrance” means a revocation or suspension of, or any limitation on, the 69 
full and unrestricted practice of Social Work licensed and regulated by a 70 
Licensing Authority. 71 



3 
 

K. “Executive Committee” means a group of delegates elected or appointed to act 72 
on behalf of, and within the powers granted to them by, the compact and 73 
Commission. 74 

L. “Home State” means the Member State that is the Licensee’s primary Domicile. 75 

M. “Impairment” means a condition(s) that may impair a practitioner’s ability to 76 
engage in full and unrestricted practice as a Regulated Social Worker without 77 
some type of intervention and may include alcohol and drug dependence, mental 78 
health impairment, and neurological or physical impairments. 79 

N. “Licensee(s)” means an individual who currently holds a license from a State to 80 
practice as a Regulated Social Worker. 81 

O. “Licensing Authority” means the board or agency of a Member State, or 82 
equivalent, that is responsible for the licensing and regulation of Regulated 83 
Social Workers. 84 

P. “Member State” means a state, commonwealth, district, or territory of the United 85 
States of America that has enacted this Compact. 86 

Q. “Multistate Authorization to Practice” means a legally authorized privilege to 87 
practice, which is equivalent to a license, associated with a Multistate License 88 
permitting the practice of Social Work in a Remote State. 89 

R. “Multistate License” means a license to practice as a Regulated Social Worker 90 
issued by a Home State Licensing Authority that authorizes the Regulated Social 91 
Worker to practice in all Member States under Multistate Authorization to 92 
Practice. 93 

S. “Qualifying National Exam” means a national licensing examination approved 94 
by the Commission.   95 

T. “Regulated Social Worker” means any clinical, master’s or bachelor’s Social 96 
Worker licensed by a Member State regardless of the title used by that Member 97 
State. 98 

U. “Remote State” means a Member State other than the Licensee’s Home State. 99 

V. “Rule(s)” or “Rule(s) of the Commission” means a regulation or regulations 100 
duly promulgated by the Commission, as authorized by the Compact, that has 101 
the force of law. 102 

W. “Single State License” means a Social Work license issued by any State that 103 
authorizes practice only within the issuing State and does not include Multistate 104 
Authorization to Practice in any Member State. 105 

X. “Social Work” or “Social Work Services” means the application of social work 106 
theory, knowledge, methods, ethics, and the professional use of self to restore or 107 
enhance social, psychosocial, or biopsychosocial functioning of individuals, 108 



4 
 

couples, families, groups, organizations, and communities through the care and 109 
services provided by a Regulated Social Worker as set forth in the Member 110 
State’s statutes and regulations in the State where the services are being 111 
provided. 112 

Y. “State” means any state, commonwealth, district, or territory of the United States 113 
of America that regulates the practice of Social Work. 114 

Z. “Unencumbered License” means a license that authorizes a Regulated Social 115 
Worker to engage in the full and unrestricted practice of Social Work. 116 

SECTION 3. STATE PARTICIPATION IN THE COMPACT 117 

A. To be eligible to participate in the compact, a potential Member State must 118 
currently meet all of the following criteria: 119 

1. License and regulate the practice of Social Work at either the clinical, 120 
master’s, or bachelor’s category. 121 

2. Require applicants for licensure to graduate from a program that is:  122 

a. Operated by a college or university recognized by the Licensing 123 
Authority; 124 

b. Accredited, or in candidacy by an institution that subsequently 125 
becomes accredited, by an accrediting agency recognized by either: 126 

i.  the Council for Higher Education Accreditation, or its successor; 127 
or 128 

ii. the United States Department of Education; and  129 

c. Corresponds to the licensure sought as outlined in Section 4.  130 

3. Require applicants for clinical licensure to complete a period of 131 
supervised practice. 132 

4. Have a mechanism in place for receiving, investigating, and adjudicating 133 
complaints about Licensees. 134 

B. To maintain membership in the Compact a Member State shall: 135 

1. Require that applicants for a Multistate License pass a Qualifying 136 
National Exam for the corresponding category of Multistate License 137 
sought as outlined in Section 4.  138 

2. Participate fully in the Commission’s Data System, including using the 139 
Commission’s unique identifier as defined in Rules; 140 

3. Notify the Commission, in compliance with the terms of the Compact and 141 
Rules, of any Adverse Action or the availability of Current Significant 142 
Investigative Information regarding a Licensee;  143 



5 
 

4. Implement procedures for considering the criminal history records of 144 
applicants for a Multistate License. Such procedures shall include the 145 
submission of fingerprints or other biometric-based information by 146 
applicants for the purpose of obtaining an applicant’s criminal history 147 
record information from the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the 148 
agency responsible for retaining that State’s criminal records. 149 

5. Comply with the Rules of the Commission; 150 

6. Require an applicant to obtain or retain a license in the Home State and 151 
meet the Home State’s qualifications for licensure or renewal of 152 
licensure, as well as all other applicable Home State laws;  153 

7. Authorize a Licensee holding a Multistate License in any Member State 154 
to practice in accordance with the terms of the Compact and Rules of the 155 
Commission; and  156 

8. Designate a delegate to participate in the Commission meetings.  157 

C. A Member State meeting the requirements of Section 3.A. and 3.B of this 158 
Compact shall designate the categories of Social Work licensure that are eligible 159 
for issuance of a Multistate License for applicants in such Member State. To the 160 
extent that any Member State does not meet the requirements for participation in 161 
the Compact at any particular category of Social Work licensure, such Member 162 
State may choose, but is not obligated to, issue a Multistate License to applicants 163 
that otherwise meet the requirements of Section 4 for issuance of a Multistate 164 
License in such category or categories of licensure.  165 

D. The Home State may charge a fee for granting the Multistate License.   166 

SECTION 4. SOCIAL WORKER PARTICIPATION IN THE COMPACT 167 

A. To be eligible for a Multistate License under the terms and provisions of the 168 
Compact, an applicant, regardless of category must: 169 

1. Hold or be eligible for an active, Unencumbered License in the Home 170 
State; 171 

2. Pay any applicable fees, including any State fee, for the Multistate 172 
License; 173 

3. Submit, in connection with an application for a Multistate License, 174 
fingerprints or other biometric data for the purpose of obtaining criminal 175 
history record information from the Federal Bureau of Investigation and 176 
the agency responsible for retaining that State’s criminal records. 177 

4. Notify the Home State of any Adverse Action, Encumbrance, or 178 
restriction on any professional license taken by any Member State or 179 
non-Member State within 30 days from the date the action is taken. 180 



6 
 

5. Meet any continuing competence requirements established by the Home 181 
State; 182 

6. Abide by the laws, regulations, and applicable standards in the Member 183 
State where the client is located at the time care is rendered. 184 

B. An applicant for a clinical-category Multistate License must meet all of the 185 
following requirements: 186 

2. Fulfill a competency requirement, which shall be satisfied by either:  187 

a. Passage of a clinical-category Qualifying National Exam; or 188 

b. Licensure of the applicant in their Home State at the clinical 189 
category, beginning prior to such time as a Qualifying National Exam 190 
was required by the Home State and accompanied by a period of 191 
continuous Social Work licensure thereafter, all of which may be 192 
further governed by the Rules of the Commission; or 193 

c. The substantial equivalency of the foregoing competency 194 
requirements which the Commission may determine by Rule.  195 

3. Attain at least a master’s degree in Social Work from a program that is: 196 

a. Operated by a college or university recognized by the Licensing 197 
Authority; and 198 

b. Accredited, or in candidacy that subsequently becomes accredited, 199 
by an accrediting agency recognized by either: 200 

i. the Council for Higher Education Accreditation or its successor; or 201 

ii. the United States Department of Education.  202 

4. Fulfill a practice requirement, which shall be satisfied by demonstrating 203 
completion of either: 204 

a. A period of postgraduate supervised clinical practice equal to a 205 
minimum of three thousand hours; or  206 

b. A minimum of two years of full-time postgraduate supervised clinical 207 
practice; or  208 

c. The substantial equivalency of the foregoing practice requirements 209 
which the Commission may determine by Rule.  210 

C. An applicant for a master’s-category Multistate License must meet all of the 211 
following requirements: 212 

1. Fulfill a competency requirement, which shall be satisfied by either:  213 

a. Passage of a masters-category Qualifying National Exam;  214 



7 
 

b. Licensure of the applicant in their Home State at the master’s 215 
category, beginning prior to such time as a Qualifying National Exam 216 
was required by the Home State at the master’s category and 217 
accompanied by a continuous period of Social Work licensure 218 
thereafter, all of which may be further governed by the Rules of the 219 
Commission; or 220 

c. The substantial equivalency of the foregoing competency 221 
requirements which the Commission may determine by Rule.  222 

2. Attain at least a master’s degree in Social Work from a program that is: 223 

a. Operated by a college or university recognized by the Licensing 224 
Authority; and 225 

b. Accredited, or in candidacy that subsequently becomes accredited, 226 
by an accrediting agency recognized by either: 227 

i. the Council for Higher Education Accreditation or its 228 
successor; or 229 

ii. the United States Department of Education.  230 

D. An applicant for a bachelor’s-category Multistate License must meet all of the 231 
following requirements:  232 

1. Fulfill a competency requirement, which shall be satisfied by either:  233 

a. Passage of a bachelor’s-category Qualifying National Exam;  234 

b. Licensure of the applicant in their Home State at the bachelor’s 235 
category, beginning prior to such time as a Qualifying National Exam 236 
was required by the Home State and accompanied by a period of 237 
continuous Social Work licensure thereafter, all of which may be 238 
further governed by the Rules of the Commission; or 239 

c. The substantial equivalency of the foregoing competency 240 
requirements which the Commission may determine by Rule.  241 

2. Attain at least a bachelor’s degree in Social Work from a program that is: 242 

a. Operated by a college or university recognized by the Licensing 243 
Authority; and 244 

b. Accredited, or in candidacy that subsequently becomes accredited, 245 
by an accrediting agency recognized by either: 246 

i. the Council for Higher Education Accreditation or its 247 
successor; or 248 

ii. the United States Department of Education.  249 



8 
 

E. The Multistate License for a Regulated Social Worker is subject to the renewal 250 
requirements of the Home State. The Regulated Social Worker must maintain 251 
compliance with the requirements of Section 4(A) to be eligible to renew a 252 
Multistate License. 253 

F. The Regulated Social Worker’s services in a Remote State are subject to that 254 
Member State’s regulatory authority. A Remote State may, in accordance with 255 
due process and that Member State’s laws, remove a Regulated Social Worker’s 256 
Multistate Authorization to Practice in the Remote State for a specific period of 257 
time, impose fines, and take any other necessary actions to protect the health 258 
and safety of its citizens.  259 

G. If a Multistate License is encumbered, the Regulated Social Worker’s Multistate 260 
Authorization to Practice shall be deactivated in all Remote States until the 261 
Multistate License is no longer encumbered. 262 

H. If a Multistate Authorization to Practice is encumbered in a Remote State, the 263 
regulated Social Worker’s Multistate Authorization to Practice may be 264 
deactivated in that State until the Multistate Authorization to Practice is no longer 265 
encumbered. 266 

SECTION 5: ISSUANCE OF A MULTISTATE LICENSE 267 

A. Upon receipt of an application for Multistate License, the Home State Licensing 268 
Authority shall determine the applicant’s eligibility for a Multistate License in 269 
accordance with Section 4 of this Compact.  270 

B. If such applicant is eligible pursuant to Section 4 of this Compact, the Home 271 
State Licensing Authority shall issue a Multistate License that authorizes the 272 
applicant or Regulated Social Worker to practice in all Member States under a 273 
Multistate Authorization to Practice. 274 

C. Upon issuance of a Multistate License, the Home State Licensing Authority shall 275 
designate whether the Regulated Social Worker holds a Multistate License in the 276 
Bachelors, Masters, or Clinical category of Social Work.  277 

D. A Multistate License issued by a Home State to a resident in that State shall be 278 
recognized by all Compact Member States as authorizing Social Work Practice 279 
under a Multistate Authorization to Practice corresponding to each category of 280 
licensure regulated in each Member State. 281 

SECTION 6: AUTHORITY OF INTERSTATE COMPACT COMMISSION AND MEMBER 282 
STATE LICENSING AUTHORITIES  283 

A. Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to 284 
limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Member State to enact and 285 
enforce laws, regulations, or other rules related to the practice of Social Work in 286 
that State, where those laws, regulations, or other rules are not inconsistent with 287 
the provisions of this Compact.  288 



9 
 

B. Nothing in this Compact shall affect the requirements established by a Member 289 
State for the issuance of a Single State License.  290 

C.  Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to 291 
limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Member State to take Adverse 292 
Action against a Licensee’s Single State License to practice Social Work in that 293 
State. 294 

D.  Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to 295 
limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Remote State to take Adverse 296 
Action against a Licensee’s Multistate Authorization to Practice in that State. 297 

E.  Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to 298 
limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Licensee’s Home State to take 299 
Adverse Action against a Licensee’s Multistate License based upon information 300 
provided by a Remote State. 301 

SECTION 7: REISSUANCE OF A MULTISTATE LICENSE BY A NEW HOME STATE 302 

A. A Licensee can hold a Multistate License, issued by their Home State, in only 303 
one Member State at any given time.  304 

B. If a Licensee changes their Home State by moving between two Member States: 305 

1. The Licensee shall immediately apply for the reissuance of their 306 
Multistate License in their new Home State. The Licensee shall pay all 307 
applicable fees and notify the prior Home State in accordance with the 308 
Rules of the Commission.  309 

2. Upon receipt of an application to reissue a Multistate License, the new 310 
Home State shall verify that the Multistate License is active, 311 
unencumbered and eligible for reissuance under the terms of the 312 
Compact and the Rules of the Commission. The Multistate License 313 
issued by the prior Home State will be deactivated and all Member 314 
States notified in accordance with the applicable Rules adopted by the 315 
Commission. 316 

3. Prior to the reissuance of the Multistate License, the new Home State 317 
shall conduct procedures for considering the criminal history records of 318 
the Licensee. Such procedures shall include the submission of 319 
fingerprints or other biometric-based information by applicants for the 320 
purpose of obtaining an applicant’s criminal history record information 321 
from the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the agency responsible for 322 
retaining that State’s criminal records. 323 

4. If required for initial licensure, the new Home State may require 324 
completion of jurisprudence requirements in the new Home State. 325 

5. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Compact, if a Licensee does 326 
not meet the requirements set forth in this Compact for the reissuance of 327 
a Multistate License by the new Home State, then the Licensee shall be 328 



10 
 

subject to the new Home State requirements for the issuance of a Single 329 
State License in that State.  330 

C. If a Licensee changes their primary State of residence by moving from a Member 331 
State to a non-Member State, or from a non-Member State to a Member State, 332 
then the Licensee shall be subject to the State requirements for the issuance of a 333 
Single State License in the new Home State.  334 

D. Nothing in this Compact shall interfere with a Licensee’s ability to hold a Single 335 
State License in multiple States; however, for the purposes of this Compact, a 336 
Licensee shall have only one Home State, and only one Multistate License.  337 

E. Nothing in this Compact shall interfere with the requirements established by a 338 
Member State for the issuance of a Single State License. 339 

SECTION 8. MILITARY FAMILIES 340 

An Active Military Member or their spouse shall designate a Home State where the individual 341 
has a Multistate License. The individual may retain their Home State designation during the 342 
period the service member is on active duty.  343 

SECTION 9. ADVERSE ACTIONS 344 

A. In addition to the other powers conferred by State law, a Remote State shall have 345 
the authority, in accordance with existing State due process law, to: 346 

1. Take Adverse Action against a Regulated Social Worker’s Multistate 347 
Authorization to Practice only within that Member State, and issue 348 
subpoenas for both hearings and investigations that require the 349 
attendance and testimony of witnesses as well as the production of 350 
evidence. Subpoenas issued by a Licensing Authority in a Member State 351 
for the attendance and testimony of witnesses or the production of 352 
evidence from another Member State shall be enforced in the latter State 353 
by any court of competent jurisdiction, according to the practice and 354 
procedure of that court applicable to subpoenas issued in proceedings 355 
pending before it. The issuing Licensing Authority shall pay any witness 356 
fees, travel expenses, mileage, and other fees required by the service 357 
statutes of the State in which the witnesses or evidence are located. 358 

2. Only the Home State shall have the power to take Adverse Action 359 
against a Regulated Social Worker’s Multistate License.  360 

B. For purposes of taking Adverse Action, the Home State shall give the same 361 
priority and effect to reported conduct received from a Member State as it would 362 
if the conduct had occurred within the Home State. In so doing, the Home State 363 
shall apply its own State laws to determine appropriate action. 364 

C. The Home State shall complete any pending investigations of a Regulated Social 365 
Worker who changes their Home State during the course of the investigations. 366 
The Home State shall also have the authority to take appropriate action(s) and 367 
shall promptly report the conclusions of the investigations to the administrator of 368 



11 
 

the Data System. The administrator of the Data System shall promptly notify the 369 
new Home State of any Adverse Actions. 370 

D. A Member State, if otherwise permitted by State law, may recover from the 371 
affected Regulated Social Worker the costs of investigations and dispositions of 372 
cases resulting from any Adverse Action taken against that Regulated Social 373 
Worker. 374 

E. A Member State may take Adverse Action based on the factual findings of 375 
another Member State, provided that the Member State follows its own 376 
procedures for taking the Adverse Action. 377 

F. Joint Investigations: 378 

1. In addition to the authority granted to a Member State by its respective 379 
Social Work practice act or other applicable State law, any Member 380 
State may participate with other Member States in joint investigations of 381 
Licensees. 382 

2. Member States shall share any investigative, litigation, or compliance 383 
materials in furtherance of any joint or individual investigation initiated 384 
under the Compact. 385 

G. If Adverse Action is taken by the Home State against the Multistate License of a 386 
Regulated Social Worker, the Regulated Social Worker’s Multistate Authorization 387 
to Practice in all other Member States shall be deactivated until all 388 
Encumbrances have been removed from the Multistate License. All Home State 389 
disciplinary orders that impose Adverse Action against the license of a Regulated 390 
Social Worker shall include a statement that the Regulated Social Worker’s 391 
Multistate Authorization to Practice is deactivated in all Member States until all 392 
conditions of the decision, order or agreement are satisfied. 393 

H. If a Member State takes Adverse Action, it shall promptly notify the administrator 394 
of the Data System. The administrator of the Data System shall promptly notify 395 
the Home State and all other Member State’s of any Adverse Actions by Remote 396 
States. 397 

I. Nothing in this Compact shall override a Member State’s decision that 398 
participation in an Alternative Program may be used in lieu of Adverse Action.  399 

J. Nothing in this Compact shall authorize a Member State to demand the issuance 400 
of subpoenas for attendance and testimony of witnesses or the production of 401 
evidence from another Member State for lawful actions within that Member State.  402 

K. Nothing in this Compact shall authorize a Member State to impose discipline 403 
against a Regulated Social Worker who holds a Multistate Authorization to 404 
Practice for lawful actions within another Member State.  405 

 406 



12 
 

SECTION 10. ESTABLISHMENT OF SOCIAL WORK LICENSURE COMPACT 407 
COMMISSION 408 

A. The Compact Member States hereby create and establish a joint government 409 
agency whose membership consists of all Member States that have enacted the 410 
compact known as the Social Work Licensure Compact Commission. The 411 
Commission is an instrumentality of the Compact States acting jointly and not an 412 
instrumentality of any one State. The Commission shall come into existence on 413 
or after the effective date of the Compact as set forth in Section 14. 414 

B. Membership, Voting, and Meetings 415 

1. Each Member State shall have and be limited to one (1) delegate 416 
selected by that Member State’s State Licensing Authority. 417 

2. The delegate shall be either: 418 

a. A current member of the State Licensing Authority at the time of 419 
appointment, who is a Regulated Social Worker or public member 420 
of the State Licensing Authority; or  421 

b. An administrator of the State Licensing Authority or their designee. 422 

3. The Commission shall by Rule or bylaw establish a term of office for 423 
delegates and may by Rule or bylaw establish term limits. 424 

4. The Commission may recommend removal or suspension any delegate 425 
from office.  426 

5. A Member State’s State Licensing Authority shall fill any vacancy of its 427 
delegate occurring on the Commission within 60 days of the vacancy. 428 

6. Each delegate shall be entitled to one vote on all matters before the 429 
Commission requiring a vote by Commission delegates. 430 

7. A delegate shall vote in person or by such other means as provided in 431 
the bylaws. The bylaws may provide for delegates to meet by 432 
telecommunication, videoconference, or other means of communication. 433 

8. The Commission shall meet at least once during each calendar year. 434 
Additional meetings may be held as set forth in the bylaws. The 435 
Commission may meet by telecommunication, video conference or other 436 
similar electronic means. 437 

C. The Commission shall have the following powers: 438 

1. Establish the fiscal year of the Commission; 439 

2. Establish code of conduct and conflict of interest policies; 440 

3. Establish and amend Rules and bylaws; 441 



13 
 

4. Maintain its financial records in accordance with the bylaws; 442 

5. Meet and take such actions as are consistent with the provisions of this 443 
Compact, the Commission’s Rules, and the bylaws; 444 

6. Initiate and conclude legal proceedings or actions in the name of the 445 
Commission, provided that the standing of any State Licensing Board to 446 
sue or be sued under applicable law shall not be affected; 447 

7. Maintain and certify records and information provided to a Member State 448 
as the authenticated business records of the Commission, and designate 449 
an agent to do so on the Commission's behalf; 450 

8. Purchase and maintain insurance and bonds; 451 

9. Borrow, accept, or contract for services of personnel, including, but not 452 
limited to, employees of a Member State; 453 

10. Conduct an annual financial review  454 

11. Hire employees, elect or appoint officers, fix compensation, define 455 
duties, grant such individuals appropriate authority to carry out the 456 
purposes of the Compact, and establish the Commission’s personnel 457 
policies and programs relating to conflicts of interest, qualifications of 458 
personnel, and other related personnel matters; 459 

12. Assess and collect fees; 460 

13. Accept any and all appropriate gifts, donations, grants of money, other 461 
sources of revenue, equipment, supplies, materials, and services, and 462 
receive, utilize, and dispose of the same; provided that at all times the 463 
Commission shall avoid any appearance of impropriety or conflict of 464 
interest; 465 

14. Lease, purchase, retain, own, hold, improve, or use any property, real, 466 
personal, or mixed, or any undivided interest therein; 467 

15. Sell, convey, mortgage, pledge, lease, exchange, abandon, or otherwise 468 
dispose of any property real, personal, or mixed; 469 

16. Establish a budget and make expenditures; 470 

17. Borrow money; 471 

18. Appoint committees, including standing committees, composed of 472 
members, State regulators, State legislators or their representatives, and 473 
consumer representatives, and such other interested persons as may be 474 
designated in this Compact and the bylaws; 475 

19. Provide and receive information from, and cooperate with, law 476 
enforcement agencies; 477 



14 
 

20. Establish and elect an Executive Committee, including a chair and a vice 478 
chair;  479 

21. Determine whether a State’s adopted language is materially different 480 
from the model compact language such that the State would not qualify 481 
for participation in the Compact; and  482 

22. Perform such other functions as may be necessary or appropriate to 483 
achieve the purposes of this Compact. 484 

D. The Executive Committee 485 

1. The Executive Committee shall have the power to act on behalf of the 486 
Commission according to the terms of this Compact. The powers, duties, 487 
and responsibilities of the Executive Committee shall include: 488 

a. Oversee the day-to-day activities of the administration of the compact 489 
including enforcement and compliance with the provisions of the 490 
compact, its Rules and bylaws, and other such duties as deemed 491 
necessary; 492 

b. Recommend to the Commission changes to the Rules or bylaws, 493 
changes to this Compact legislation, fees charged to Compact 494 
Member States, fees charged to Licensees, and other fees; 495 

c. Ensure Compact administration services are appropriately provided, 496 
including by contract; 497 

d. Prepare and recommend the budget; 498 

e. Maintain financial records on behalf of the Commission; 499 

f. Monitor Compact compliance of Member States and provide 500 
compliance reports to the Commission; 501 

g. Establish additional committees as necessary; 502 

h. Exercise the powers and duties of the Commission during the interim 503 
between Commission meetings, except for adopting or amending 504 
Rules, adopting or amending bylaws, and exercising any other 505 
powers and duties expressly reserved to the Commission by Rule or 506 
bylaw; and 507 

i. Other duties as provided in the Rules or bylaws of the Commission. 508 

2. The Executive Committee shall be composed of up to eleven (11) 509 
members: 510 

a. The chair and vice chair of the Commission shall be voting members 511 
of the Executive Committee; and 512 



15 
 

b. The Commission shall elect five voting members from the current 513 
membership of the Commission. 514 

c. Up to four (4) ex-officio, nonvoting members from four (4) recognized 515 
national Social Work organizations. 516 

d. The ex-officio members will be selected by their respective 517 
organizations.  518 

3. The Commission may remove any member of the Executive Committee 519 
as provided in the Commission’s bylaws. 520 

4. The Executive Committee shall meet at least annually. 521 

a. Executive Committee meetings shall be open to the public, except 522 
that the Executive Committee may meet in a closed, non-public 523 
meeting as provided in subsection F.2 below. 524 

b. The Executive Committee shall give seven (7) days’ notice of its 525 
meetings, posted on its website and as determined to provide notice 526 
to persons with an interest in the business of the Commission. 527 

c. The Executive Committee may hold a special meeting in accordance 528 
with subsection F.1.b. below. 529 

E. The Commission shall adopt and provide to the Member States an annual report. 530 

F. Meetings of the Commission 531 

1. All meetings shall be open to the public, except that the Commission 532 
may meet in a closed, non-public meeting as provided in subsection F.2 533 
below. 534 

a. Public notice for all meetings of the full Commission of meetings shall 535 
be given in the same manner as required under the Rulemaking 536 
provisions in Section 12, except that the Commission may hold a 537 
special meeting as provided in subsection F.1.b below. 538 

b. The Commission may hold a special meeting when it must meet to 539 
conduct emergency business by giving 48 hours’ notice to all 540 
commissioners, on the Commission’s website, and other means as 541 
provided in the Commission’s Rules. The Commission’s legal 542 
counsel shall certify that the Commission’s need to meet qualifies as 543 
an emergency. 544 

2. The Commission or the Executive Committee or other committees of the 545 
Commission may convene in a closed, non-public meeting for the 546 
Commission or Executive Committee or other committees of the 547 
Commission to receive legal advice or to discuss: 548 



16 
 

a. Non-compliance of a Member State with its obligations under the 549 
Compact; 550 

b. The employment, compensation, discipline or other matters, 551 
practices or procedures related to specific employees; 552 

c. Current or threatened discipline of a Licensee by the Commission or 553 
by a Member State’s Licensing Authority; 554 

d. Current, threatened, or reasonably anticipated litigation; 555 

e. Negotiation of contracts for the purchase, lease, or sale of goods, 556 
services, or real estate; 557 

f. Accusing any person of a crime or formally censuring any person; 558 

g. Trade secrets or commercial or financial information that is privileged 559 
or confidential; 560 

h. Information of a personal nature where disclosure would constitute a 561 
clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy; 562 

i. Investigative records compiled for law enforcement purposes; 563 

j. Information related to any investigative reports prepared by or on 564 
behalf of or for use of the Commission or other committee charged 565 
with responsibility of investigation or determination of compliance 566 
issues pursuant to the Compact; 567 

k. Matters specifically exempted from disclosure by federal or Member 568 
State law; or 569 

l. Other matters as promulgated by the Commission by Rule. 570 

3. If a meeting, or portion of a meeting, is closed, the presiding officer shall 571 
state that the meeting will be closed and reference each relevant 572 
exempting provision, and such reference shall be recorded in the 573 
minutes. 574 

4. The Commission shall keep minutes that fully and clearly describe all 575 
matters discussed in a meeting and shall provide a full and accurate 576 
summary of actions taken, and the reasons therefore, including a 577 
description of the views expressed. All documents considered in 578 
connection with an action shall be identified in such minutes. All minutes 579 
and documents of a closed meeting shall remain under seal, subject to 580 
release only by a majority vote of the Commission or order of a court of 581 
competent jurisdiction.  582 

G. Financing of the Commission 583 



17 
 

1. The Commission shall pay, or provide for the payment of, the reasonable 584 
expenses of its establishment, organization, and ongoing activities. 585 

2. The Commission may accept any and all appropriate revenue sources 586 
as provided in subsection C(13). 587 

3. The Commission may levy on and collect an annual assessment from 588 
each Member State and impose fees on Licensees of Member States to 589 
whom it grants a Multistate License to cover the cost of the operations 590 
and activities of the Commission and its staff, which must be in a total 591 
amount sufficient to cover its annual budget as approved each year for 592 
which revenue is not provided by other sources. The aggregate annual 593 
assessment amount for Member States shall be allocated based upon a 594 
formula that the Commission shall promulgate by Rule. 595 

4. The Commission shall not incur obligations of any kind prior to securing 596 
the funds adequate to meet the same; nor shall the Commission pledge 597 
the credit of any of the Member States, except by and with the authority 598 
of the Member State. 599 

5. The Commission shall keep accurate accounts of all receipts and 600 
disbursements. The receipts and disbursements of the Commission shall 601 
be subject to the financial review and accounting procedures established 602 
under its bylaws. However, all receipts and disbursements of funds 603 
handled by the Commission shall be subject to an annual financial 604 
review by a certified or licensed public accountant, and the report of the 605 
financial review shall be included in and become part of the annual 606 
report of the Commission. 607 

H. Qualified Immunity, Defense, and Indemnification 608 

1. The members, officers, executive director, employees and 609 
representatives of the Commission shall be immune from suit and 610 
liability, both personally and in their official capacity, for any claim for 611 
damage to or loss of property or personal injury or other civil liability 612 
caused by or arising out of any actual or alleged act, error, or omission 613 
that occurred, or that the person against whom the claim is made had a 614 
reasonable basis for believing occurred within the scope of Commission 615 
employment, duties or responsibilities; provided that nothing in this 616 
paragraph shall be construed to protect any such person from suit or 617 
liability for any damage, loss, injury, or liability caused by the intentional 618 
or willful or wanton misconduct of that person. The procurement of 619 
insurance of any type by the Commission shall not in any way 620 
compromise or limit the immunity granted hereunder. 621 

2. The Commission shall defend any member, officer, executive director, 622 
employee, and representative of the Commission in any civil action 623 



18 
 

seeking to impose liability arising out of any actual or alleged act, error, 624 
or omission that occurred within the scope of Commission employment, 625 
duties, or responsibilities, or as determined by the Commission that the 626 
person against whom the claim is made had a reasonable basis for 627 
believing occurred within the scope of Commission employment, duties, 628 
or responsibilities; provided that nothing herein shall be construed to 629 
prohibit that person from retaining their own counsel at their own 630 
expense; and provided further, that the actual or alleged act, error, or 631 
omission did not result from that person’s intentional or willful or wanton 632 
misconduct. 633 

3. The Commission shall indemnify and hold harmless any member, officer, 634 
executive director, employee, and representative of the Commission for 635 
the amount of any settlement or judgment obtained against that person 636 
arising out of any actual or alleged act, error, or omission that occurred 637 
within the scope of Commission employment, duties, or responsibilities, 638 
or that such person had a reasonable basis for believing occurred within 639 
the scope of Commission employment, duties, or responsibilities, 640 
provided that the actual or alleged act, error, or omission did not result 641 
from the intentional or willful or wanton misconduct of that person. 642 

4. Nothing herein shall be construed as a limitation on the liability of any 643 
Licensee for professional malpractice or misconduct, which shall be 644 
governed solely by any other applicable State laws. 645 

5. Nothing in this Compact shall be interpreted to waive or otherwise 646 
abrogate a Member State’s state action immunity or state action 647 
affirmative defense with respect to antitrust claims under the Sherman 648 
Act, Clayton Act, or any other State or federal antitrust or anticompetitive 649 
law or regulation. 650 

6. Nothing in this Compact shall be construed to be a waiver of sovereign 651 
immunity by the Member States or by the Commission. 652 

SECTION 11. DATA SYSTEM 653 

A. The Commission shall provide for the development, maintenance, operation, and 654 
utilization of a coordinated Data System. 655 

B. The Commission shall assign each applicant for a Multistate License a unique 656 
identifier, as determined by the Rules of the Commission. 657 

C. Notwithstanding any other provision of State law to the contrary, a Member State 658 
shall submit a uniform data set to the Data System on all individuals to whom this 659 
Compact is applicable as required by the Rules of the Commission, including: 660 

1. Identifying information; 661 

2. Licensure data; 662 



19 
 

3. Adverse Actions against a license and information related thereto; 663 

4. Non-confidential information related to Alternative Program participation, 664 
the beginning and ending dates of such participation, and other 665 
information related to such participation not made confidential under 666 
Member State law; 667 

5. Any denial of application for licensure, and the reason(s) for such denial; 668 

6. The presence of Current Significant Investigative Information; and 669 

7. Other information that may facilitate the administration of this Compact 670 
or the protection of the public, as determined by the Rules of the 671 
Commission. 672 

D. The records and information provided to a Member State pursuant to this 673 
Compact or through the Data System, when certified by the Commission or an 674 
agent thereof, shall constitute the authenticated business records of the 675 
Commission, and shall be entitled to any associated hearsay exception in any 676 
relevant judicial, quasi-judicial or administrative proceedings in a Member State. 677 

E. Current Significant Investigative Information pertaining to a Licensee in any 678 
Member State will only be available to other Member States. 679 

1. It is the responsibility of the Member States to report any Adverse Action 680 
against a Licensee and to monitor the database to determine whether 681 
Adverse Action has been taken against a Licensee. Adverse Action 682 
information pertaining to a Licensee in any Member State will be 683 
available to any other Member State. 684 

F. Member States contributing information to the Data System may designate 685 
information that may not be shared with the public without the express 686 
permission of the contributing State. 687 

G. Any information submitted to the Data System that is subsequently expunged 688 
pursuant to federal law or the laws of the Member State contributing the 689 
information shall be removed from the Data System. 690 

SECTION 12. RULEMAKING 691 

A. The Commission shall promulgate reasonable Rules in order to effectively and 692 
efficiently implement and administer the purposes and provisions of the 693 
Compact. A Rule shall be invalid and have no force or effect only if a court of 694 
competent jurisdiction holds that the Rule is invalid because the Commission 695 
exercised its rulemaking authority in a manner that is beyond the scope and 696 
purposes of the Compact, or the powers granted hereunder, or based upon 697 
another applicable standard of review. 698 

B. The Rules of the Commission shall have the force of law in each Member State, 699 
provided however that where the Rules of the Commission conflict with the laws 700 



20 
 

of the Member State that establish the Member State’s laws, regulations, and 701 
applicable standards that govern the practice of Social Work as held by a court of 702 
competent jurisdiction, the Rules of the Commission shall be ineffective in that 703 
State to the extent of the conflict. 704 

C. The Commission shall exercise its Rulemaking powers pursuant to the criteria 705 
set forth in this Section and the Rules adopted thereunder. Rules shall become 706 
binding on the day following adoption or the date specified in the rule or 707 
amendment, whichever is later. 708 

D. If a majority of the legislatures of the Member States rejects a Rule or portion of a 709 
Rule, by enactment of a statute or resolution in the same manner used to adopt 710 
the Compact within four (4) years of the date of adoption of the Rule, then such 711 
Rule shall have no further force and effect in any Member State. 712 

E. Rules shall be adopted at a regular or special meeting of the Commission. 713 

F.         Prior to adoption of a proposed Rule, the Commission shall hold a public hearing  714 
and allow  persons to provide oral and written comments, data, facts, opinions, 715 
and arguments. 716 

G. Prior to adoption of a proposed Rule by the Commission, and at least thirty (30) 717 
days in advance of the meeting at which the Commission will hold a public 718 
hearing on the proposed Rule, the Commission shall provide a Notice of 719 
Proposed Rulemaking: 720 

1. On the website of the Commission or other publicly accessible platform;  721 

2. To persons who have requested notice of the Commission’s notices of 722 
proposed rulemaking, and 723 

3. In such other way(s) as the Commission may by Rule specify. 724 

H. The Notice of Proposed Rulemaking shall include: 725 

1. The time, date, and location of the public hearing at which the 726 
Commission will hear public comments on the proposed Rule and, if 727 
different, the time, date, and location of the meeting where the 728 
Commission will consider and vote on the proposed Rule; 729 

2. If the hearing is held via telecommunication, video conference, or other 730 
electronic means, the Commission shall include the mechanism for 731 
access to the hearing in the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking; 732 

3. The text of the proposed Rule and the reason therefor; 733 

4. A request for comments on the proposed Rule from any interested 734 
person; and 735 

5. The manner in which interested persons may submit written comments. 736 



21 
 

I.         All hearings will be recorded. A copy of the recording and all written comments 737 
and documents received by the Commission in response to the proposed Rule 738 
shall be available to the public. 739 

J.         Nothing in this section shall be construed as requiring a separate hearing on each 740 
Rule. Rules may be grouped for the convenience of the Commission at hearings 741 
required by this section. 742 

K. The Commission shall, by majority vote of all members, take final action on the 743 
proposed Rule based on the Rulemaking record and the full text of the Rule. 744 

1. The Commission may adopt changes to the proposed Rule provided the 745 
changes do not enlarge the original purpose of the proposed Rule. 746 

2. The Commission shall provide an explanation of the reasons for 747 
substantive changes made to the proposed Rule as well as reasons for 748 
substantive changes not made that were recommended by commenters. 749 

3. The Commission shall determine a reasonable effective date for the 750 
Rule. Except for an emergency as provided in Section 12.L, the effective 751 
date of the rule shall be no sooner than 30 days after issuing the notice 752 
that it adopted or amended the Rule. 753 

L.         Upon determination that an emergency exists, the Commission may consider and 754 
adopt an emergency Rule with 48 hours’ notice, with opportunity to comment, 755 
provided that the usual Rulemaking procedures provided in the Compact and in 756 
this section shall be retroactively applied to the Rule as soon as reasonably 757 
possible, in no event later than ninety (90) days after the effective date of the 758 
Rule. For the purposes of this provision, an emergency Rule is one that must be 759 
adopted immediately in order to: 760 

1. Meet an imminent threat to public health, safety, or welfare; 761 

2. Prevent a loss of Commission or Member State funds; 762 

3. Meet a deadline for the promulgation of a Rule that is established by 763 
federal law or rule; or 764 

4. Protect public health and safety. 765 

M. The Commission or an authorized committee of the Commission may direct 766 
revisions to a previously adopted Rule for purposes of correcting typographical 767 
errors, errors in format, errors in consistency, or grammatical errors. Public notice 768 
of any revisions shall be posted on the website of the Commission. The revision 769 
shall be subject to challenge by any person for a period of thirty (30) days after 770 
posting. The revision may be challenged only on grounds that the revision results 771 
in a material change to a Rule. A challenge shall be made in writing and 772 
delivered to the Commission prior to the end of the notice period. If no challenge 773 
is made, the revision will take effect without further action. If the revision is 774 



22 
 

challenged, the revision may not take effect without the approval of the 775 
Commission. 776 

N. No Member State’s rulemaking requirements shall apply under this compact. 777 

SECTION 13. OVERSIGHT, DISPUTE RESOLUTION, AND ENFORCEMENT 778 

A. Oversight 779 

1. The executive and judicial branches of State government in each 780 
Member State shall enforce this Compact and take all actions necessary 781 
and appropriate to implement the Compact. 782 

2. Except as otherwise provided in this Compact, venue is proper and 783 
judicial proceedings by or against the Commission shall be brought 784 
solely and exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction where the 785 
principal office of the Commission is located. The Commission may 786 
waive venue and jurisdictional defenses to the extent it adopts or 787 
consents to participate in alternative dispute resolution proceedings. 788 
Nothing herein shall affect or limit the selection or propriety of venue in 789 
any action against a Licensee for professional malpractice, misconduct 790 
or any such similar matter. 791 

3. The Commission shall be entitled to receive service of process in any 792 
proceeding regarding the enforcement or interpretation of the Compact 793 
and shall have standing to intervene in such a proceeding for all 794 
purposes. Failure to provide the Commission service of process shall 795 
render a judgment or order void as to the Commission, this Compact, or 796 
promulgated Rules. 797 

B. Default, Technical Assistance, and Termination 798 

1. If the Commission determines that a Member State has defaulted in the 799 
performance of its obligations or responsibilities under this Compact or 800 
the promulgated Rules, the Commission shall provide written notice to 801 
the defaulting State. The notice of default shall describe the default, the 802 
proposed means of curing the default, and any other action that the 803 
Commission may take, and shall offer training and specific technical 804 
assistance regarding the default. 805 

2. The Commission shall provide a copy of the notice of default to the other 806 
Member States. 807 

C. If a State in default fails to cure the default, the defaulting State may be 808 
terminated from the Compact upon an affirmative vote of a majority of the 809 
delegates of the Member States, and all rights, privileges and benefits conferred 810 
on that State by this Compact may be terminated on the effective date of 811 
termination. A cure of the default does not relieve the offending State of 812 
obligations or liabilities incurred during the period of default. 813 



23 
 

D. Termination of membership in the Compact shall be imposed only after all other 814 
means of securing compliance have been exhausted. Notice of intent to suspend 815 
or terminate shall be given by the Commission to the governor, the majority and 816 
minority leaders of the defaulting State’s legislature, the defaulting State’s State 817 
Licensing Authority and each of the Member States’ State Licensing Authority. 818 

E. A State that has been terminated is responsible for all assessments, obligations, 819 
and liabilities incurred through the effective date of termination, including 820 
obligations that extend beyond the effective date of termination. 821 

F.         Upon the termination of a State’s membership from this Compact, that State shall 822 
immediately provide notice to all Licensees within that State of such termination. 823 
The terminated State shall continue to recognize all licenses granted pursuant to 824 
this Compact for a minimum of six (6) months after the date of said notice of 825 
termination.  826 

G. The Commission shall not bear any costs related to a State that is found to be in 827 
default or that has been terminated from the Compact, unless agreed upon in 828 
writing between the Commission and the defaulting State. 829 

H. The defaulting State may appeal the action of the Commission by petitioning the 830 
U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the 831 
Commission has its principal offices. The prevailing party shall be awarded all 832 
costs of such litigation, including reasonable attorney’s fees. 833 

I. Dispute Resolution 834 

1. Upon request by a Member State, the Commission shall attempt to 835 
resolve disputes related to the Compact that arise among Member 836 
States and between Member and non-Member States. 837 

2. The Commission shall promulgate a Rule providing for both mediation 838 
and binding dispute resolution for disputes as appropriate. 839 

J. Enforcement 840 

1. By majority vote as provided by Rule, the Commission may initiate legal 841 
action against a Member State in default in the United States District 842 
Court for the District of Columbia or the federal district where the 843 
Commission has its principal offices to enforce compliance with the 844 
provisions of the Compact and its promulgated Rules. The relief sought 845 
may include both injunctive relief and damages. In the event judicial 846 
enforcement is necessary, the prevailing party shall be awarded all costs 847 
of such litigation, including reasonable attorney’s fees. The remedies 848 
herein shall not be the exclusive remedies of the Commission. The 849 
Commission may pursue any other remedies available under federal or 850 
the defaulting Member State’s law. 851 



24 
 

2. A Member State may initiate legal action against the Commission in the 852 
U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia or the federal district 853 
where the Commission has its principal offices to enforce compliance 854 
with the provisions of the Compact and its promulgated Rules. The relief 855 
sought may include both injunctive relief and damages. In the event 856 
judicial enforcement is necessary, the prevailing party shall be awarded 857 
all costs of such litigation, including reasonable attorney’s fees. 858 

3. No person other than a Member State shall enforce this compact against 859 
the Commission. 860 

SECTION 14. EFFECTIVE DATE, WITHDRAWAL, AND AMENDMENT 861 

A. The Compact shall come into effect on the date on which the Compact statute is 862 
enacted into law in the seventh Member State.  863 

1. On or after the effective date of the Compact, the Commission shall 864 
convene and review the enactment of each of the first seven Member 865 
States (“Charter Member States”) to determine if the statute enacted by 866 
each such Charter Member State is materially different than the model 867 
Compact statute. 868 

a. A Charter Member State whose enactment is found to be 869 
materially different from the model Compact statute shall be 870 
entitled to the default process set forth in Section 13. 871 

b. If any Member State is later found to be in default, or is 872 
terminated or withdraws from the Compact, the Commission 873 
shall remain in existence and the Compact shall remain in effect 874 
even if the number of Member States should be less than seven.  875 

2. Member States enacting the Compact subsequent to the seven initial 876 
Charter Member States shall be subject to the process set forth in 877 
Section 10(C)(21) to determine if their enactments are materially 878 
different from the model Compact statute and whether they qualify for 879 
participation in the Compact. 880 

3. All actions taken for the benefit of the Commission or in furtherance of 881 
the purposes of the administration of the Compact prior to the effective 882 
date of the Compact or the Commission coming into existence shall be 883 
considered to be actions of the Commission unless specifically 884 
repudiated by the Commission.  885 

4. Any State that joins the Compact subsequent to the Commission’s initial 886 
adoption of the Rules and bylaws shall be subject to the Rules and 887 
bylaws as they exist on the date on which the Compact becomes law in 888 
that State. Any Rule that has been previously adopted by the 889 



25 
 

Commission shall have the full force and effect of law on the day the 890 
Compact becomes law in that State. 891 

B. Any Member State may withdraw from this Compact by enacting a statute 892 
repealing the same. 893 

1. A Member State’s withdrawal shall not take effect until 180 days after 894 
enactment of the repealing statute. 895 

2. Withdrawal shall not affect the continuing requirement of the withdrawing 896 
State’s Licensing Authority to comply with the investigative and Adverse 897 
Action reporting requirements of this Compact prior to the effective date 898 
of withdrawal. 899 

3. Upon the enactment of a statute withdrawing from this compact, a State 900 
shall immediately provide notice of such withdrawal to all Licensees 901 
within that State. Notwithstanding any subsequent statutory enactment to 902 
the contrary, such withdrawing State shall continue to recognize all 903 
licenses granted pursuant to this compact for a minimum of 180 days 904 
after the date of such notice of withdrawal.  905 

C. Nothing contained in this Compact shall be construed to invalidate or 906 
prevent any licensure agreement or other cooperative arrangement between 907 
a Member State and a non-Member State that does not conflict with the 908 
provisions of this Compact. 909 

D. This Compact may be amended by the Member States. No amendment to 910 
this Compact shall become effective and binding upon any Member State 911 
until it is enacted into the laws of all Member States. 912 

SECTION 15. CONSTRUCTION AND SEVERABILITY 913 

A. This Compact and the Commission’s rulemaking authority shall be liberally 914 
construed so as to effectuate the purposes, and the implementation and 915 
administration of the Compact. Provisions of the Compact expressly authorizing 916 
or requiring the promulgation of Rules shall not be construed to limit the 917 
Commission’s rulemaking authority solely for those purposes. 918 

B. The provisions of this Compact shall be severable and if any phrase, clause, 919 
sentence or provision of this Compact is held by a court of competent jurisdiction 920 
to be contrary to the constitution of any Member State, a State seeking 921 
participation in the Compact, or of the United States, or the applicability thereof to 922 
any government, agency, person or circumstance is held to be unconstitutional 923 
by a court of competent jurisdiction, the validity of the remainder of this Compact 924 
and the applicability thereof to any other government, agency, person or 925 
circumstance shall not be affected thereby. 926 

C. Notwithstanding subsection B of this section, the Commission may deny a 927 
State’s participation in the Compact or, in accordance with the requirements of 928 



26 
 

Section 13.B, terminate a Member State’s participation in the Compact, if it 929 
determines that a constitutional requirement of a Member State is a material 930 
departure from the Compact.  Otherwise, if this Compact shall be held to be 931 
contrary to the constitution of any Member State, the Compact shall remain in full 932 
force and effect as to the remaining Member States and in full force and effect as 933 
to the Member State affected as to all severable matters. 934 

SECTION 16. CONSISTENT EFFECT AND CONFLICT WITH OTHER STATE LAWS 935 

A. A Licensee providing services in a Remote State under a Multistate Authorization 936 
to Practice shall adhere to the laws and regulations, including laws, regulations, 937 
and applicable standards, of the Remote State where the client is located at the 938 
time care is rendered. 939 

B. Nothing herein shall prevent or inhibit the enforcement of any other law of a 940 
Member State that is not inconsistent with the Compact. 941 

C. Any laws, statutes, regulations, or other legal requirements in a Member State in 942 
conflict with the Compact are superseded to the extent of the conflict. 943 

D. All permissible agreements between the Commission and the Member States are 944 
binding in accordance with their terms. 945 

 946 


	2025 Social Work Commission Meeting Packet.2.pdf
	2025 Social Work Commission Meeting Packet.pdf
	SW Compact Cover page.pdf
	SW Compact Table of Contents.pdf
	2024 SW Compact Commission Meeting Minutes.pdf
	2025 Legislative Update for SW Commission.pdf
	3 - RONR, Simplified (1).pdf
	Social Work Compact Bylaws Draft.pdf
	SW Elections Information.pdf
	SW Ex-Officio Organization Selection.pdf
	SW Compact Rule On Rulemaking Draft.pdf
	2024.01.03 SW Compact - Qualifying National Exam Rule.pdf
	ASWB Exam Information.pdf
	CompactConnect One Pager.pdf
	Committee Information.pdf
	Social Work Licensure Compact - Model Legislation.pdf
	Social Work Licensure Compact Legislation cover page.pdf
	Social Work Licensure Compact - Final PDF
	SECTION 1: PURPOSE
	SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS
	SECTION 3. STATE PARTICIPATION IN THE COMPACT
	SECTION 4. SOCIAL WORKER PARTICIPATION IN THE COMPACT
	SECTION 5: ISSUANCE OF A MULTISTATE LICENSE
	SECTION 6: AUTHORITY OF INTERSTATE COMPACT COMMISSION AND MEMBER STATE LICENSING AUTHORITIES
	A. Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Member State to enact and enforce laws, regulations, or other rules related to the practice of Social Work in that...
	C.  Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Member State to take Adverse Action against a Licensee’s Single State License to practice Social Work in that State.
	D.  Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Remote State to take Adverse Action against a Licensee’s Multistate Authorization to Practice in that State.
	E.  Nothing in this Compact, nor any Rule of the Commission, shall be construed to limit, restrict, or in any way reduce the ability of a Licensee’s Home State to take Adverse Action against a Licensee’s Multistate License based upon information provi...
	SECTION 7: REISSUANCE OF A MULTISTATE LICENSE BY A NEW HOME STATE
	SECTION 8. MILITARY FAMILIES
	SECTION 9. ADVERSE ACTIONS
	SECTION 10. ESTABLISHMENT OF SOCIAL WORK LICENSURE COMPACT COMMISSION
	SECTION 11. DATA SYSTEM
	SECTION 12. RULEMAKING
	SECTION 13. OVERSIGHT, DISPUTE RESOLUTION, AND ENFORCEMENT
	SECTION 14. EFFECTIVE DATE, WITHDRAWAL, AND AMENDMENT
	SECTION 15. CONSTRUCTION AND SEVERABILITY
	SECTION 16. CONSISTENT EFFECT AND CONFLICT WITH OTHER STATE LAWS



	2025 Social Work Agenda

	ASWB Exam Information.pdf

